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 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1
THURSDAY, MAY 14, 2009

--- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Today is the third day of the oral hearing of Phase 2 of EB-2008-0219, an application of Enbridge Gas Distribution.


This portion of the hearing deals with Issue 7, Enbridge's request for approval to acquire direct-purchase bundled-service customers to contract for firm upstream transportation.


Today we will begin with the cross-examination of Direct Energy's panel.  Are there any preliminary matters?  Mr. Cass?  


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have one preliminary matter.


Yesterday Enbridge distributed answers to the undertakings that were given by its witnesses earlier in the hearing.  That would be Exhibits HDU1.1 to 3, and HDU2.1 to 3.


MS. NOWINA:  We're looking for them, Mr. Cass.  


MR. CASS:  I believe they were -- 


MS. NOWINA:  I don't believe the Board Panel has them, Mr. Schuch, so if you could get them.


MR. SCHUCH:  We don't have them.  


MS. NOWINA:  We do not have them.  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, you'll probably also remember that Enbridge was to update the maps that were marked as HD1.1, I believe.  Those also were sent out yesterday.  


However, for anyone who would want a colour copy of those maps as updated, I think the colour copies are available in the room.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

Are there any other preliminary matters?

Mr. Hoaken, do you want to introduce your witnesses before we swear them in?


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes, I'll do that.  Thank you.  And good morning to the Panel.

I'll start, if I may, by introducing my colleague, Karen Beattie, who is seated to my left.  She will be taking the controls later this morning, as I unfortunately have to leave a bit later on.  


I'll start, as you suggest, Madam Chair, by introducing the panel of witnesses being offered by Direct Energy.  At the far end of the dais is Mr. James Macintosh.  Seated in the middle is Mr. Tim Ray, and at the far end is Mr. Sayed Khoja.  So I would suggest that they come forward now and be sworn.  

DIRECT ENERGY MARKETING LIMITED - Panel 1:

James McIntosh, Sworn

Tim Ray, Sworn

Sayed Khoja, Sworn

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. HOAKEN:


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.  


I'll start, if I may, just with an introductory matter, a correction of the prefiled evidence, Madam Chair.  I'm looking at Exhibit L, Tab 7, page 6 of 8 of the prefiled evidence of Direct Energy Marketing Limited, and there's a very slight correction to the third paragraph on page 6.


This inaccuracy was, in fact, pointed out by Ms. Giridhar in the course of her evidence.  The figure which is at the bottom of the page is identified as being part of a presentation that was given by Ms. Giridhar on the 22nd of January 2008 to APPrO, and in fact we now understand, as pointed out by Ms. Giridhar, that this was a presentation on that same day to the NEB.  So we would make that correction to the evidence.


So on that basis, Madam Chair, I will ask the panel of witnesses to confirm that they have been involved in the preparation of the prefiled evidence and that they adopt it for the purposes of their evidence here today.


MR. McINTOSH:  I do.


MR. RAY:  Yes.


MR. KHOJA:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  Thank you.  Perhaps what I could do that would be helpful is just briefly introduce the three members of the panel.


As the Board and all parties will be aware there, there's a letter dated May 6, 2009, from Ric Forster of Direct Energy to the Board enclosing brief bios of the three panel members, and I'll just quickly introduce them with reference to the information contained in that document.


I'm in the Board's hands as to whether we mark that as an exhibit.


MS. NOWINA:  I don't think we need to.


MR. HOAKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Let me start with you, if I may, then, MR. McINTOSH.  You are the director of regulated gas supply for Direct Energy Marketing Limited?


MR. McINTOSH:  I am.


MR. HOAKEN:  I understand you've got a bachelor of arts in economics from the University of Calgary?


MR. McINTOSH:  Correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  And you have been at Direct Energy for approximately six years?


MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  As I understand it, in your role as director of regulated gas supply, you are responsible for gas procurement on behalf of the regulated Alberta gas customers served through Direct Energy Regulated Services, which is the regulated utility in Alberta?


MR. McINTOSH:  Correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  Could you just explain for the Board and the parties here today what the connection is between your duties and responsibilities and the subject matter of this proceeding?


MR. McINTOSH:  Certainly.  In my role as director of gas supply, we have tried to canvas other justifications to see what are best practices and what are challenges facing other jurisdictions, and try to offer it to the regulator in that jurisdiction.  


In that context, we have had an interest with regards to the Ontario proceedings, and specifically the potential impacts that this issue might have on pricing of Alberta gas.


MR. HOAKEN:  Thank you.

Let me turn to you, then, Mr. Ray.  You are the vice president, North America retail gas for Direct Energy Marketing Limited; is that correct?


MR. RAY:  That's correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  You are based in Houston, Texas?  


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  And I understand that you are a graduate of West Virginia University, holding a bachelor of science and business administration; is that correct?


MR. RAY:  That's correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  You also have your certified public accountancy certification?


MR. RAY:  It's not valid right now, but I have passed the exam.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right, thank you.  You, as I understand it, have been in the natural gas industry for approximately 22 years and have been with Direct Energy now for, what, approximately four years.


MR. RAY:  Actually, a little over six years.


MR. HOAKEN:  Six years.  Thank you.  In your role as vice president of North American retail gas, can you just tell us what your duties and responsibilities are?


MR. RAY:  Yes.  Basically, I'm responsible for energy management, which is physical procurement and logistics of moving supply, as well as the financial hedging of natural gas, basically, to all systems that we serve, retail customers, residential, commercial and industrial, kind of throughout North America.


MR. HOAKEN:  Let me ask you the same question I asked MR. McINTOSH, then.  What is the connection, if you will, between your duties and responsibilities and the subject matter of this proceeding?


MR. RAY:  This is actually an integral part of what I do.  In my role, I'm responsible for ensuring the integrity of our supply to our customers, as well as providing a least-cost routing and economics for our portfolios.  


I'm also responsible for understanding rules and tariff regulations regarding the operational requirements for us delivering commodity to our customers.  


So this is actually extremely pertinent to one very large utility that we serve in North America.


MR. HOAKEN:  Turning to you, Mr. Khoja, you were the senior director, load management for Direct Energy Marketing Limited and are based here in Toronto?


MR. KHOJA:  I am.


MR. HOAKEN:  I understand that you have a bachelor of business administration from the University of Houston?


MR. KHOJA:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And you have been with Direct Energy both in Canada and the United States for approximately six and a half years?


MR. KHOJA:  That's correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  Could you just give us a brief explanation of the duties and responsibilities you have in your role as senior director load management?


MR. KHOJA:  My primary responsibilities are for establishing pricing and products that we sell in the Canadian mass-market energy business, which includes Ontario, Manitoba, Alberta and British Columbia.


MR. HOAKEN:  Same question for you, in the interests of fairness.  What is the connection between what you do on a day-to-day basis and the subject matter of this proceeding?


MR. KHOJA:  As Mr. Ray alluded to, the impact of this proceeding on cost essentially would determine what types of pricing we offer to our retail customers.


MR. HOAKEN:  Thank you.

So with that, Madam Chair, the panel is available for cross-examination.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Hoaken.  Mr. Cass?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I'll just make a quick observation before I start.  I think it makes sense for me to go first, because I probably, relative to others, have a more comprehensive cross-examination.  I do have some concern about parties adverse in interest to Enbridge following the cross-examination.  However I also appreciate that some parties perhaps haven't actually landed as to where they are in their ultimate position.  

     I did talk with other counsel about it, at least some other counsel, and decided I would go first, but then if a concern does arise because of parties coming after me who actually have more commonality with these witnesses than with my client, then perhaps we could address it at that time.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Hoaken, do you have any concern with that?

MR. HOAKEN:  Well, I'm not a hundred percent sure what Mr. Cass means.  I suppose if he means that if there is subsequent questioners, that is questioners that come after him who explore issues in a way different than he explored them and in a way favourable to the position of Direct Energy or perhaps some of the other intervenors, if he's suggesting in those circumstances he might be permitted to ask for an opportunity to do some further examination on that point, I think we're certainly open to that and we would evaluate that based on what happened in the cross-examination.  If that's what he means by addressing it later, I think we are all on the same page. 

MS. NOWINA:  I see him nodding.  I think that's right. All right.  We'll do that, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Panel, to start out my cross-examination, I actually have some good news for you and some bad news.   My first question is not going to be to ask you which of those you want to hear first.  The good news is I'm actually going to start out with an area where I do want to ask series of open-ended questions and give you an opportunity to fully comment.

Now, the bad news, though I do want you to make an assumption with me.  And I appreciate that this is subject to debate and it will be subject to questions later on, but what I would like to explore is possible alternatives in the event that the Board were to decide in favour of what Enbridge is saying.  Are you with me on that?  So if you were able to suppose the Board were to decide that there is a system reliability issue and that there needs to be more firm transportation back-up for supplies for direct shippers -- that is totally an assumption.  I'm not asking you to agree with that.  What I would like you do on is comment on what some of the alternatives might to be address that, if that were the Board's decision.

Is that something you would be able to do?

MR. McINTOSH:  I think we would, again, like to put on the record that it is your assumption.  Is it not our position that there is a system -- that the evidence in front of this Board has not proven system liability as an issue, but certainly we can entertain your questions.

MR. CASS:  Good.  Again, I appreciate your position.  That's an assumption I'm asking you to make.  It's just to help the Board with what some of the alternatives might be if the Board were to make that decision.  So I think it would be helpful, but if it causes you difficulty, just say so.

I don't know if would it help or not, but let's say that the outcome is, say, 200 gJs per day of additional transportation is needed.  Can you comment on some of the ways that might be achieved?  Firm transportation, short-term firm transportation, by the utility and cost passed on in a certain manner or by the direct shippers or by a combination of both; do you have comments on the various alternatives that might be pursued in order to fill that block of 200,000 gJs per day to support direct shipper volumes?

MR. RAY:  I think clearly entered into the evidence, there is really one alternative as far as transportation capacity.  The available transportation capacity is long-haul capacity on TCPL.  I think the answer would involve some type of contracting of TCPL capacity.  I'm not        prepared to say whether direct shippers should take out the 200,000 or whether Enbridge should take out the 200,000, but clearly that would be the alternative available.

I do believe that short-term firm transportation would be a viable alternative to FT given the levels of unutilized or uncontracted capacity that are currently available on the TCPL system.  Currently today there is approximately 775,000 gigaJoules a day of capacity offered on their website, offered for contracting that's available.

MR. CASS:  In the event that the determination were to be that the FT firm transportation is the alternative, what would you see as the implications of that?  Specifically, is that something Direct Energy would be able to optimize if that was the direction that was taken?

MR. RAY:  I believe the -- that option would create some disadvantages, clear disadvantages for us as an entity.  For one, it would put us at a cost disadvantage, clearly, to Enbridge.  Given what's been entered into evidence, with the assumption that the long-haul TCPL toll rate will be going to $1.44, clearly that will make our cost to supply a pretty -– a premium to the Enbridge portfolio.

It will also put us in a position where we will be tied to one basin, which will be the western basin, and that will inhibit significantly our ability to be able to optimize different alternatives in the marketplace that we are currently using.

MR. McINTOSH:  If I could, Mr. Cass, I would also add in the paper submitted by Shell, compiling -– we, Direct Energy as a company, has taken up firm transportation many times in the past.

I think the other concern that we have is if it is deemed by this Board this is a problem, we think it should be short-term treatment to go along with your assumption where the better world or more reliable world, as Ms. Giridhar testified the other day, would be a fully unbundled world, and ideally we would include storage.  

We understand that's part of the next rate application, but if, again, to go along with your assumption, if any sort of firm TransCanada space were deemed to be the appropriate solution by this Board, then we would highly recommend that it be short-term in nature.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Just for clarity, though, if it were the FT service, would you have some potential for optimization?  You are not saying there was no potential for optimization, I take it.

MR. RAY:  I would not indicate there is no potential for optimization.  What I would indicate is that by virtue of the fact there is such a significant amount of transportation, long-haul transportation available in the marketplace, it provides a clear indication as to the value of firm transportation.  Basically, in the summer months, it has very little value and would increase the cost base for anybody who contracted for FT significantly, relative to other alternative delivery routes within the Ontario area.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  So then just to be sure that I fully understand what you are saying, as far as Direct Energy is concerned -- and this is all based on the assumption that I've asked you to make, and we appreciate that -- you would see that the preferred alternative, if the Board were to make the decision I've described, would be short-term firm transportation, at least in the short term, but you don't have any position as to whether the utility would acquire that, and then there would be an issue about how to distribute the cost to customers or whether the direct shippers would acquire it directly?

 
MR. RAY:  My opinion would be that -– well, obviously we're on the record as believing that firm transportation capacity for the direct marketers is not needed.

If the Board were to come to a calculation that short-term firm is required, my opinion would be to have marketers contract at levels that were similar to last year's contracting, and then any differential that might exist between the level the Board would require and that contracting would be completed by Enbridge and would be a load-balancing cost.

MR. McINTOSH:  And socialized to all customers, all distribution customers.  I mean -– but that's one alternative.  There's many other ones that we could explore.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  And I think I was asking -- or maybe I haven't got there yet, but my final question would be -- which would be the alternative that you would see to be in the best interest of all interests that have to be taken into account by the Board, again, based on the assumption we've described?

MR. McINTOSH:  Given your assumption, the levels that Mr. Ray described for the January-February time frame would appear to be reasonable, again, if the Board gives direction like that to the gas community.


MR. CASS:  But in terms of who would acquire it and how the cost would be borne, what would be your suggestion to the Board as to what would best take into account all of the interests that are represented here in this proceeding?


MR. McINTOSH:  I think Mr. Ray had suggested that direct shippers take out volume levels similar to last year's, with winter, January-February stressed days, with any remainder volume as deemed appropriate by the Board in conjunction with Enbridge, socialized amongst all customers and borne as a load-balancing distribution cost.


MR. CASS:  Yes, I did hear him say that.  I'm sorry, I'm just trying to confirm.  Is that what you would see as the preferred alternative, with the assumption that I've described?


MR. RAY:  The answer is yes.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Let's move onto another subject, then.  I just wanted to set some background about the mean daily volume.  You would agree with me, I take it, panel, that Ontario T-service direct shippers are required to deliver what's called their mean daily volume to the Enbridge franchise area?


MR. RAY:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  The mean daily volume is established by taking an expected annual demand or consumption, and dividing it by the number of days in the year?


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MR. CASS:  And this little calculation that I've just described produces an MDV amount that the direct shipper must deliver to the franchise area each day of the year?


MR. RAY:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And this volume of daily deliveries must be delivered, in Enbridge's case, to either the CDA or EDA, right?


MR. RAY:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And you would agree with me, I'm sure, that this is what's at issue in this case, as far as upstream transportations are concerned, is the arrangements for that mean daily volume, that equal daily volume that direct shippers are obligated to supply each day of the year.  Are we together on that?


MR. RAY:  Yes, that is one of the cogent issues.


MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you.  Now, you would understand, I take it, that for the purposes of its design day or peak day planning, Enbridge has other sources of gas supply in addition to these daily deliveries by direct shippers, and similar daily deliveries for system gas customers that it builds into its design day planning?


MR. RAY:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And you would be aware, I take it, that another source of supply for Enbridge in its design day planning is gas from storage?


MR. RAY:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And in addition to the daily deliveries, the gas from storage, you would be aware that Enbridge actually plans in its design day planning for full curtailment of all interruptible customers?  Are you aware of that?


MR. RAY:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  So given that Enbridge's design day or peak day planning already assumes full curtailment of interruptible customers, you would agree with me Enbridge can't plan on any further curtailment on design day?


MR. RAY:  Beyond their current curtailment plan, yes, that's correct.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And, therefore, Enbridge must know on design day that all the supplies of gas that it has planned on are going to arrive at the franchise area?  Would you agree?


MR. RAY:  That's a good assumption for them to make.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And these supplies of gas that Enbridge must have on design day, they include these daily deliveries by direct shippers, and they include similar daily deliveries on behalf of system-gas customers?


MR. RAY:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, would you -- in terms of this design day planning, I would assume you would agree with me that Direct Energy does not itself do system-wide design day planning for the Enbridge system when it arranges its portfolio of gas supply and transportation arrangements?


MR. RAY:  No, sir.  Our planning would be limited to our portfolio.


MR. CASS:  In fact, I assume you could agree with me no single direct shipper on its own is going to be in a position to do design day planning for the system as a whole?


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MR. CASS:  In fact, that's the role of the utility, to do design day planning, right?


MR. RAY:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. CASS:  I think you said this in an IR response -- I think it follows from what you just said, but you would agree that the utility as system operator is in a unique position to determine how much gas needs to be delivered on its system; is that right?


MR. RAY:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And you would agree that the utility, in this case Enbridge, has the responsibility for forecasting, ensuring that peak day demands of customers are met?


MR. RAY:  Yes, I would.  And, sir, I would like to add one point that I think is important here.  With regard to the responsibilities of a supplier of last resort, I would agree totally that the utility is in a unique position to determine what the physical requirements are for their total system, in terms of managing to peak day.


But I would not necessarily agree that that would mean that the utility needs to necessarily mandate or determine the methods upstream that the suppliers would actually utilize to provide natural gas to their city gate on any particular day.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  I understand that's your position, and I don't propose to argue with you as we sit here today, but thank you.


And I take it that Direct Energy would agree that system reliability is of the utmost importance?


MR. RAY:  Absolutely.


MR. CASS:  So based on all this, given that Enbridge has the responsibility to ensure that there are -- you would agree that Enbridge has a responsibility to ensure that there are reliable sources of supply to meet demand on its system, such as peak day demand?  


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  I take it you would also agree that Enbridge shouldn't await a system failure before addressing what it perceives to be a system planning issue, but should plan in advance to avoid system failure; would you agree?


MR. RAY:  I would agree wholeheartedly that no utility should wait for an actual system event in order to address a supply security situation.  However, I would add one particular point.  As I look in this particular proceeding, the one thing that I find as -- is kind of a gaping hole of information that I haven't seen provided is a couple things that would be important for a utility to look at, from just a physical standpoint -- which I haven't seen entered into evidence -- is really providing a lot of engineering work with regard to how pressures on their system are reacting on peak days relative to other days in the winter to see whether there's actually a substantive change in those pressures.


There should also be work completed that analyzes the amount of stress on the city gates, how much gas is actually flowing to the city gates relative to the operating -- approved operating capacities from the engineers.


There are a lot of physical types of evidence that I would tend to expect would be produced in a situation where a utility would be raising a supply security situation.


Anecdotally, I would also say there are things that I would see, from a general market standpoint, that would be leading indicators in terms of whether there were security issues regarding the supply and demand balance on a utility.


Providing an example of a market that I do see as constrained, we deliver gas into the northeast markets and into utilities in the states of Massachusetts and Connecticut.


If you were to look today to find firm transportation capacity on the pipelines that deliver to those utilities -- and that would be specifically Tennessee and Algonquin -- you would find no available firm transportation capacity for contracting.


Basically, 100 percent of that firm transportation capacity is contracted out; not only contracted out, but contracted out on a long-term basis.  And you could actually go back for a significant period in history and find out that that has continuously been the case.  


When I look at Enbridge's situation and I take a look at TCPL and what levels of firm transportation are available even on peak days that has been identified in the evidence, where there is short-term firm transportation available to the system, it provides a significant contrast to what an actual constrained market is.


And if I could -- if the Panel would -- or if the Board would not mind me continuing to elaborate, I wanted to address one more thing about these anecdotal market indicators that would provide evidence around a supply-demand mismatch.


All supply points within North America have a cost relative to NYMEX, and that's defined as basis.  It shows you the relationship for how that gas trades relative to the Henry hub for which NYMEX is predicated upon.  

When you look at constrained markets in the northeast, you see a significant and substantial premium in the basis market for the peak winter periods.  I don't have the actual data in front of me, but relative to my last review of the forward basis for the Algonquin city gate market which delivers into Connecticut, the summer basis trades at around a 50 cents premium to the Henry hub, but the winter trades at a significant slope, with November and March being around a dollar but with the January and February months trading at literally $3.50 of a premium to the Henry hub.

I might add that $3.50 historically has been as high

as $7 on a forward basis.  This is a pure indication the market clearly understands that's there is a supply security issue, and there can be a rationing of gas supply which will potentially create a very difficult situation to find supply or could force a supplier into a situation where they are paying substantial premiums for gas in the cash month to deliver on a peak day.

When I compare and contrast that to the market area

basis that we see for the CDA, you see that the CDA in the 

summer months trades around 35 cents and in the winter        months trades around the mid-60 cents.  Clearly there is a premium to the summer months, and that would be indicative of a utility that is a winter-balanced utility, which Enbridge is.  It's a heat-load winter-balance utility.  However, there is no indication in forward pricing from the marketplace that there is substantial concern over supply security, whereas a large premium is being placed in those peak winter months.

So with that regard -- and I'm sorry to have rambled on, but I wanted to get on the record what I see as kind of clear items that would provide indications around supply security.

MR. CASS:  All right.

Well, after that, Mr. Ray, I have to say I've forgotten what my question was.  Do you by any chance remember what the question was?

MR. RAY:  You were asking me, sir, if it was appropriate to wait for the utility to wait for an actual event of supply security before taking action with regard to that issue.

MR. CASS:  Good.  And I think I recall you agreed it's not appropriate for the utility.

MR. RAY:  Yes, it is not appropriate.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Now, to come back to your answer, you started out by referring to a couple areas of evidence that you said you would have liked to have seen.  They sounded like engineering evidence.  If I recall, one had to do with pressure necessary for the system, another had to do with stresses at the city gates.

Direct Energy did not ask Enbridge for this information in the interrogatory process or at the technical conference, did it?

MR. McINTOSH:  No, we did not.

MR. CASS:  Can you give me some examples of other        jurisdictions where you've seen this evidence?

MR. McINTOSH:  Well, I’ll speak to the Alberta example, in that that LDC, ATCO, has made application in front of the Board for increased infrastructure to meet the growing demand underneath need, now -- whether that is in the form of increased pipe capacity or storage and the like.  There's -- supply security really is the concern, and I don't question -- we don't question the genuine belief that that is Enbridge's concern, but the alternatives to supply security between the proposed solution would be the put a great big pipe from Tecumseh into the Toronto city gate area.  I'm not saying that that's a cost effective solution, but you could put LNG bullets, you could put more short-haul capacity in place.

Our simple point -– and we're not engineers, we're not purporting to be engineers -- but our simple point is simply there are physical solutions to address a supply security, and we did not see anything in the evidence to suggest that an alternative, a physical alternative was going to cost X versus the Enbridge proposed solution, which we have suggested is not without its cost as well.

MR. CASS:  Well, MR. McINTOSH, I asked for examples        of the type of evidence that Mr. Ray referred to.  The only example you gave me was ATCO.  You’d agree with me that ATCO is located in a producing province, as opposed to Enbridge which is many hundreds of kilometres away from a producing province, so the two have quite a different set of issues, right?

MR. McINTOSH:  I would agree with that, but they still to have meet the rigor of putting more pipe in the ground as required and that's subject to that Commission’s approval, and the incurrence of costs on a prudent basis.

MR. CASS:  Let's move on.

I think this has already been alluded to, but Direct Energy does, in fact, operate in a number of jurisdictions other than Ontario?

MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.

MR. CASS:  Again, I think this may have been alluded to, but this includes -- would it be just about every state in the northeastern US?

MR. RAY:  No, the eight states in the northeast US being Illinois, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island,  Massachusetts, Connecticut, and Michigan and Pennsylvania.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  And at the Technical Conference in this proceeding, Direct Energy was asked about if it had been involved in other proceedings dealing with similar issues about firm transportation to the market.  And in response to Undertaking TCU3.2, there was reference to several jurisdictions, including Pennsylvania.  Are you aware of that undertaking response? 

MR. RAY:  Yes. 

MR. CASS:  In the Pennsylvania proceeding that was        shown in Direct’s undertaking response, there was a submission made by Enbridge -– sorry, by Direct Energy, that I believe I've referred your counsel to and that you perhaps have in front of you.  Do you have that?

MR. RAY:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  This is a document entitled at the top      "Comments to the -–" sorry, "Pennsylvania Public Utilities 

Commission."  There's a docket number.  I won't read it all out.  And then a little below, it says, "Comments of Direct Energy Services LLC."

MR. RAY:  I do have that in front of me, sir.

MR. CASS:  Good.  Thank you.  Might I just take you 

to –-

MS. NOWINA:   Should we mark this as an exhibit? 

MR. CASS:  Oh, yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MR. SCHUCH:  Yes, let’s assign Exhibit No. HD3.1 to this, and it would be:  Comments of Direct Energy Services to the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission.

EXHIBIT NO. HD 3.1: COMMENTS OF DIRECT ENERGY SERVICES TO THE PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION.

MR. CASS:  Now, this was of interest of me, Mr. Ray, because in this proceeding, Direct Energy, I believe, has raised as an issue the subject of penalties for non-delivery.  You are aware of that?

MR. RAY:  Yes, I am.

MR. CASS:  Now this particular document addresses        penalties for non-delivery, I believe, at page 9.

MR. RAY:  Mm-hmm.

MR. CASS:  Can I take you there?

MR. RAY:  I'm there, sir.  

MR. CASS:  Opposite the word "penalties" on page 9, there's a paragraph.  I won't read the whole paragraph, but        essentially it is saying that to the extent that there are any penalties, it should be the lower of the utilities costs or market-based rates.  So that's the position that Direct was taking in Pennsylvania, is it?

MR. RAY:  According to the evidence, that was the        position that is being taken.

MR. CASS:  Right.  So charging the lower of the utility's costs or market-based rates, that's really just cost recovery as opposed to a real element of penalization, isn't it?

MR. RAY:  I would interject in this particular      proceeding, if I could provide some level of background on 

this particular utility.  This utility is a bundled utility.  It's one where the marketer is basically delivering, similar to the Enbridge program, a flat volume that's consistent over a 365-day period, and it is a market where capacity is actually allocated to the marketer.  So there is a firm delivered service provided to the marketer to deliver its gas to the utility.

In light of that information, Direct Energy took the position that the current $75 penalty for non-delivery was unnecessary and was usurious, because of the fact that we would assume that in cases of where delivery was not made, it could be something as simple as a nomination error that could cause gas to not be confirmed to the utility.  And there was -– there were basically no differentiations in magnitude in terms of the size of the delivery failure.  It was just basically a one-size-fits-all.

So I believe our argument in this particular proceeding was taking into account the kind of overall elements that I have just kind of alluded to in coming to a conclusion of what we thought was a fair penalty value.


MR. CASS:  Well, I'm just trying to reconcile what was said there and what is said in this proceeding.  


As I understand it in this proceeding -- and I can take you to your evidence, if you wish -- before this Board, you are saying that should the current financial penalties be insufficient to provide Enbridge with a level of comfort, the Board should consider increasing them, but in Pennsylvania, in fact, Direct Energy was arguing for a decrease, right to the extent of the lower of the utility cost or market.


I'm having difficulty reconciling those two positions.


MR. McINTOSH:  Mr. Cass, in response to your question, I think in Interrogatory Response to Enbridge No. 1, response to -- I think we said, well, direct current penalties in this circumstance -- and to Mr. Ray's point, there's nuances in every market, but in this circumstance we believe the current penalties are adequate, and we have not had an example of a system failure.


I believe there was some discussion previously about stressing the penalties.  I don't believe that there's been occasion to enforce the penalties recently, so we think the penalties are in fact punitive and they work.


MR. RAY:  Mr. Cass, I would also reiterate Mr. McIntosh's comment that, from my perspective, the particular circumstances within each utility would dictate our view on what we felt was an appropriate penalty.  


In this particular case, again, based off the evidence that I've entered and my oral discussion, we feel that this was the appropriate level in this particular circumstance.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Let's move on.

Are you generally familiar, panel, with the consequences that occur if a natural gas distribution system suffers an outage?


MR. RAY:  Yes, sir.


MR. CASS:  So to start off, if there is an outage, the system, or least some part of it, loses pressure, right?


MR. RAY:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And in order to get the system up and running again after that outage, it needs to be repressurized.  Are you with me?


MR. RAY:  Yes, I am, sir.


MR. CASS:  Even to begin repressurizing the system or even a part of it, there has to be a shut-off at each and every delivery point in the affected area so that the pressure can start to rebuild within the system, right?


MR. RAY:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And in the absence of some form of automatic shut-off, that process of shutting off each premises means a visit to each premises to do that?


MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.


MR. CASS:  Then once all those shut-offs have occurred in the affected area, the system can be repressurized, right?


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MR. CASS:  Then once the system has been repressurized, there's a second visit to each of those premises to restart the gas; am I right?


MR. RAY:  You may be getting beyond the level of what I would understand as being all the areas involved.


MR. McINTOSH:  I believe the Enbridge panel confirmed that, and we --


MR. CASS:  You have no reason to disagree with that?  And you would agree with me this is very different, for example, from restarting an electricity system after at outage?  You can't just flip a switch and make it flow like you can with electricity?


MR. McINTOSH:  I will take your word for it.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And you would agree with me this all takes time to shut down, and then restart customers, and the more customers who are affected, then the more time all of this takes, right?


MR. McINTOSH:  Yes.


MR. RAY:  I would postulate that --


MR. McINTOSH:  I believe Dr. Overcast cited the example of Atlanta, when there was 1,800 residences affected, and it took -- I think he mentioned two weeks to repressure; is that --


MR. CASS:  Not quite my recollection, but it doesn't matter for my purposes.  It doesn't matter, MR. McINTOSH.  That's fine. 


So as a result of this process, you would agree with me, I'm sure, that there is cost to the utility of doing all this?


MR. RAY:  Yes, there is.


MR. CASS:  And there's potentially costs and losses to customers who are without service during the period of this outage, from the outage to the time when they can be restarted, right?


MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.


MR. CASS:  You would agree with me, I'm sure, that penalties for non-delivery, such as the type that are even now in Enbridge's provisions, simply are not going to reimburse the utility for all the costs of doing something like this, and they are certainly not going to reimburse customers for the losses and costs the customers incur, right?


MR. McINTOSH:  If I could just have a moment?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. McINTOSH:  My apologies.  We do view the responsibility of the distributor to go and restart.  It is incumbent upon the utility to have the curtailment plan, the Phase 0, 1 and 2 that was discussed previously.  So I think that it's the kind of thing that I'm not going to suggest that there won't be costs.


I'm just not -- we're not going to suggest that -- I think it would have to be subject to the review of the circumstance in question, in the event of a system failure.


MR. CASS:  All right.  But my question maybe was more convoluted than it needed to be.  My question is simply to ask you to confirm that in the event of an outage, where Enbridge has to go through this process with a significant number of customers, the penalties that we've been talking about are not going to compensate for the costs of doing that, or for the customers' losses.


MR. RAY:  If you made the assumption, Mr. Cass, that the outage was specifically identified and proven and adjudicated before the Board being specifically associated with the failure of the delivery of a DP supplier, then, yes, that is likely the answer.


MR. CASS:  Okay, so let's -- can I just work with that example, Mr. Ray?  That was useful.  Thank you.


So let's talk about an example where there was an outage and it could be attributed specifically to a failure to deliver by a particular direct shipper.  


Now, I don't suggest for a moment that this would be Enbridge's solution, but given that the issue of penalties have been raised -- I believe by Direct -- would Direct accept that in that situation where there has been an outage and it can be tracked specifically to a failure to deliver by a direct shipper, that Enbridge's tariff provisions should be such as to make that direct shipper fully responsible for all of the costs, the costs of shutting down customers, restarting customers, and the customers' own costs and losses?  Would Direct Energy accept that?


MR. RAY:  Mr. Cass, I think I don't want to kind of go down the road of a hypothetical in this particular situation.  Clearly, what is being argued into evidence, I think, clearly indicates that all direct shippers have operated within the rules.  All direct shippers have made deliveries.  I think the evidence clearly points to the fact that there is system security.  


What I would basically agree to is -- with regard to your question, is if there was a system outage, then I would suggest that we -- there would be the appropriate analysis in the appropriate forum.  It would come before this Board, that would determine the individuals at fault, and that the Board would take the appropriate steps with regard to that situation.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, my proposition was a little different, that this would actually be inserted into the tariff provisions to make sure that that flexibility exists.


Again, this is not Enbridge's proposition, but since this idea of penalties has been raised, I take it that you would not be agreeable with that, that it be enshrined in the tariff provisions, this responsibility for failure to deliver?


MR. KHOJA:  Mr. Cass, could you repeat your question?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  My question is to find out whether Direct Energy would support inclusion in Enbridge tariff provisions of a clause that would indicate that direct shippers would take responsibility for the full cost and loss consequences of a failure to deliver -- and by this I mean both the utility's costs and losses and the customers' -- in the event that a failure to deliver can be traced to that particular direct shipper.

MR. KHOJA:  I think it’s a similar question you raised in IR 3, if I’m not mistaken, and I think our response and our response today is similar, which is that we feel that current market rules that are in place are severe enough and the ultimate penalty that the gas delivery agreement can be terminated is significant.  

However, in the situation that you described and if that is what the Board agrees to, under certain circumstances and describing that the outage can be attributed to a direct shippers, Enbridge can demonstrate that it did everything in its ability to mitigate the situation, then yes, I think our answer was that under those conditions, we would amenable to that. 

MR. CASS:  The direct shipper should take responsibility for all costs including the customers' costs and losses?

MR. RAY:  Sir, I don't believe that we would find        that amenable. 

MR. CASS:  Let's move on.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I didn't hear that answer, sorry. 

MR. RAY:  I don't think we would find that amenable within the tariff.

MR. CASS:  I just wanted to flip a couple of questions, flipping it around the other way.

Let's suppose it was a different direct shipper and not Direct Energy.  Let's suppose some other direct shipper fails to deliver on peak day and consequently part of Enbridge's system loses pressure, the pressure it needs on peak day and some Direct Energy’s customers are affected by that loss of pressure. 

MR. HOAKEN:  Well, if I can intervene, since we’re layering hypothetical on hypothetical here, I think we have to be clear about the premises of the question.

If the premise of the question is that this outage occurs solely as a result of the failure of that direct shipper -- so in other words, there is no failure or lack of accountability on the part of Enbridge in implementing its contingency plan, no flaw in that plan that was manifested -- so if the outage is solely attributable to the failure of the direct shipper, if that's the premise, I think that's fine, but the problem is we're talking about a very complicated situation.  We’re talking about it in the hypothetical.

And I think in fairness to the panel, it has to be made clear what the express premises of the question is.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, is your premise that Enbridge is flawless in this?

MR. CASS:  As flawless as can be reasonably be expected of any local distribution company, yes, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

I'm sorry if I'm making the questions too complicated.  I'm sure it's just my phraseology.  I'm just putting to you proposition that there's a loss of pressure in the system on peak day that can be attributed to some other -- failure to deliver by some other direct shipper, and let's assume that Enbridge behaves like a reasonable utility.  I take it Direct Energy would not want to see its customers bear the costs and losses of that outage?

MR. RAY:  Certainly not.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And so I take it you would agree it's not appropriate that one group of customers be put at risk for having their gas cut off or not receiving the service which they are expecting by reasons of non-delivery from some other customers or group of customers?

MR. McINTOSH:  I would say this is another massive assumption that you started our questioning with, you know. And to Mr. Hoaken's point, every circumstance is going to be slightly different, and hence our position that we think its important to review all these unique circumstances, because none will be the same, in front of the Board, and to find appropriate parties.

Again, I guess what we're struggling with, Mr. Cass, is the degree of the hypothetical, in that to say that everybody will be flawless except one individual --  I think it's Direct's position that each circumstance has to be viewed independently in conjunction with all parties who are stakeholders to the circumstance that you are describing. 

MR. CASS:  So I take it you are not able to state any response in respect of my general proposition that if a

failure -- if a system outage can be attributed specifically to failure to deliver by one customer or group of customers, that other customers or groups of customers should not bear the consequences?  You can't comment on that, then?

MR. RAY:  Again, from my standpoint, sir, I think this is such a broad hypothetical.  The language that you had      originally provided to me with regard to would Direct Energy be willing to accept these direct costs including customers, that language is -- from my best recollection, is not contained within any utility tariff that I'm aware of.  But yet in regard to that, I think we see an incredible track record in North America, especially under the deregulated supplier realm of reliable and safe deliveries throughout districts across the US and in Canada.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And as parts of that incredible 

track record, all of the local distribution utilities are doing the type of planning that I've already referred to, where they take steps to be sure that they have reliable supplies on peak day, right? 

MR. RAY:  Again, we have agreed that it's definitely the utility's responsibility to do so. 

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

If you don't mind a complete switch of subject, there was one other question I meant to you ask at the beginning.  I don’t know that a lot turns on it, but I just wanted to give you a chance to comment on it.

You may recall at the beginning of the cross-examination, I was asking you about alternative solutions to a problem, if the Board were to actually decide that a problem exists.  Do you have any comment on the possibility that Enbridge would maintain some sort of reserve margin?

MR. RAY:  Again, my comment would be that with regard to Enbridge's reserve margins, that that would be a case that Enbridge would take up and would provide the appropriate engineering, the appropriate documentation within the applicable proceeding to make that case before the Board that that reserve margin was appropriate and that the customers on its systems would need to actually bear that cost to provide the level of security that Enbridge sees as necessary.

MR. CASS:  Sorry, I have skipped around and I apologize for that, so I probably did not make totally clear the premise of my question.  The premise was going right back to the assumption that we made at the beginning for the purpose of a limited number of questions, the assumption being that the Board were to recognize the problem and were to indicate that there needs to be some sort of solution.

So in that context, you would be saying there would still need to be a further sort of examination of evidence for reserve margin to be any sort of solution to that problem?  

MR. RAY:  Yeah, I would assume that the reserve        margin would indicate that Enbridge would need to incur additional costs in some manner to provide that reserve       margin, and I would again presume that there would be need to do a cost-benefit analysis as to whether that reserve margin was necessary, and based on the cost that would be incurred, that it would need to state its case and provide evidence that that was a necessary undertaking for the additional cost that the customers in its system would bear.

MR. CASS:  I'll move on.

We have talked about some of the other jurisdictions where Direct Energy operates, and in particular, Pennsylvania.  And we've referred to one document from Pennsylvania.  I also provided to your counsel, and I think you have another document from the Pennsylvania PUC.  It has the name of the Pennsylvania PUC at the top, and then immediately below that it refers to a public meeting held October 25th, 2000, and it's an order of that Commission.  Do you have that as well?

MR. RAY:  Yes, I do sir. 

MS. NOWINA:   Let's mark that as an exhibit as        well, Mr. Cass.

MR. SCHUCH:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Let’s mark that as Exhibit HD3.2, Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission Public Meeting held October 25th, 2000.

EXHIBIT NO. HD3.2:  PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION PUBLIC MEETING HELD OCTOBER 25TH, 2000

MR. CASS:  Now, you've already described some of the particular circumstances in Pennsylvania, and I appreciate it's a jurisdiction that operates in a particular manner and you can elaborate on that further as you wish.  

I did just want to take you to part of this particular order, which is called "Safety and Reliability Guidelines."  I think they are attached to the order.  Are you with me there?

MR. RAY:  Is there a page number?  Annex A? 

MR. CASS:  Yes, "Safety and Reliability Guidelines."

MR. RAY:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  If I could take you to what seems to me to be the second page of that annex A, there's a heading there "Delivery Standards For NGSs" and, as indicated above, an NGS in this context is a natural gas supplier, right?


MR. RAY:  Yes, sir.


MR. CASS:  Then skipping over to the next page that has paragraph B at the top, you will see the indication there that:

"Natural gas suppliers should utilize firm capacities sufficient to meet the requirements of their firm service customers, except to the extent otherwise provided in each natural gas distribution company's reliability plan."  


So in Pennsylvania, basically, firm downstream obligations must be matched with firm upstream arrangements, right?


MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.


MR. CASS:  There is a further indication in that same paragraph B: 

"Service to any essential human-needs retail gas customer lacking alternative fuel capability --" 


I've left out a few words:

"-- and any residential retail gas customers should be firm service." 


Right?  That's the way it works in Pennsylvania?  


And then going onto paragraph C, the suppliers actually have to warrant to the distribution company that they have sufficient firm capacity to meet the requirements of the essential human-needs retail gas customers, right?


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MR. CASS:  They have to describe the characteristics of that firm capacity to the distribution company?


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MR. CASS:  Then going on a bit more:

"The distribution company then even has to take commercially reasonable steps to verify that the firm capacity contract rights exist."


Right?


MR. RAY:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Now, I'm sorry, I also had provided you with a New York example.  I apologize.  I was under the impression that Direct operated in New York, because I looked at your website and it certainly seemed to be indicated on the website, just the colour-coded map.


MR. RAY:  We do operate there.


MR. CASS:  Oh, okay.  So the next reference, then, I had given you was a somewhat similar document from the State of New York Public Service Commission.  Do you have that as well?


MR. RAY:  Yes, I do, sir.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, we can mark that Exhibit HD3.3, State of New York Public Service Commission order issued and effective August 30th, 2007.

EXHIBIT NO. HDU3.3:  STATE OF NEW YORK PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION ORDER ISSUED AND EFFECTIVE AUGUST 30, 2007.


MR. CASS:  Skipping, if you may, to page 3 of this document -- and this document actually has page numbers, fortunately.  At page 3 of this order on capacity release programs, New York PSC starts, at the top of page 3, referring to a previous policy statement, and then there's a quote from the policy statement.  Do you see that there?


MR. RAY:  The small paragraph?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. RAY:  Yes, sir.


MR. CASS:  Part of the quote is:

"No compromise in system reliability will be permitted."


I just wanted to ask:  Does Direct Energy agree with that, in principle, that no compromise in system reliability should be permitted?


MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Then just going on, it indicates:

"Toward that end -–"

I.e., the end of no compromise in system reliability:

"-- LDCs will continue to be the system operators and will be allowed to maintain access to sufficient assets to ensure proper operation."


Do you agree that LDCs should continue to be the system operators towards the end of ensuring no compromise in system reliability?


MR. RAY:  Yes, I do, sir.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


MR. RAY:  I would want to state for the record in this particular proceeding, toward that -- the uniqueness of the New York market -- and I was looking for the reference in here, but it is contained within the evidence.


New York is a market such that, again, as I had indicated, there is basically no firm capacity available in the marketplace to be subscribed, and also in the document, it indicated that literally 2.1 percent, I believe, of the capacity available for delivery to that market was actually in the hands of non-utilities.


So the premise here on this particular document around supply security was literally the direct purchasers have no -- had very extreme limited access of being able to find the level of primary firm that would be available to meet the system security requirements that were mandated by this Commission.


As such, a mandatory allocation of capacity was subscribed in this particular case to ensure that that level of capability was able to be met.  


In addition, this market in New York is a -- what you would basically say is an unbundled market.  The suppliers get an allocation of multiple pipelines that deliver into a particular utility, and there are different routes into New York depending on where the geographic locations are, and there are also storage assets, both unbundled and bundled storage service assets, that are available to marketers in this -- into this particular location.  


I would also add that the uniqueness of New York is such that this market is in a geographic location where it's basically the end of the pipeline.  There is no alternative.  The transcontinental pipeline, the Texas eastern pipeline, both terminate into the New York City area.


And as I had indicated earlier with my, quote/unquote, "diatribe on forward market pricing", there is that clear indication as to the fact that this is a constrained market.  That high basis that I was telling you about is related to the fact that there is no firm capacity available for contracting in this particular jurisdiction.


MR. CASS:  Are you implying, Mr. Ray, that because Enbridge is not at the end of a pipeline, that it's okay for Enbridge just to draft gas off of TransCanada that's not secured under firm commitments that would otherwise be flowing downstream?  Is that your suggestion?


MR. RAY:  I'm just trying to draw a comparison of two markets that I believe are not identically situated.  I believe there are differences.


MR. CASS:  All right.  I wasn't intending to dwell on this document, so let's just move on, then.  


So looking at page 3 of the document farther down on the page, my understanding is that what New York PSC is saying here is that it had made an earlier order concerning assignment of capacity, and it had stated that marketers -- I'm right at the bottom of page 3:

"Marketers who operate with only secondary delivery point capability may not be able to deliver gas to their customers' city gate on colder days when the gas system may be capacity-constrained, and in order to assure reliability required all marketers serving firm loads to demonstrate that they have firm non-recallable primary delivery point capacity to the city gate, but only for the winter season."  


So that's where this Commission was at the time of this determination.  It had previously decided that there had to be these firm non-recallable capacity commitments, but only for the winter season, November through March, right?


MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.


MR. CASS:  Then the issue in this proceeding, in fact, as we'll move along to page 11, was then a discussion of this partial versus annual holding of capacity; right?


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MR. CASS:  So then skipping over to page 11, that's where the Commission actually discusses this concept of partial versus annual holding of capacity.  And without reading a whole bunch of words, I'll see perhaps if you can agree with me that what the Commission decides is that LDC releases of capacity should be for the entire year, not just for the winter months, but that it would grandfather the marketer supply capacity that had been acquired for the five-month period under the previous procedure.

Is that a fair characterization?


MR. RAY:  That is a fair characterization.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.

I just wanted to confirm with you, then, that Direct Energy does indeed operate in a number of jurisdictions.  Now, again, I'm not sure about New York specifically, but we've talked about Pennsylvania and we've talked about Connecticut.


Direct Energy does operate in a number of jurisdictions where there is a matching of firm downstream obligations with firm upstream transportation for direct shippers; is that fair?


MR. RAY:  There are markets where we do and there are markets where we do not.


MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  And in those jurisdictions where you do operate in this matching of firm downstream obligations with firm upstream commitments, you are able to operate within the requirements of the applicable tariffs, and so on, and to optimize your gas supply arrangements within that context?


MR. RAY:  Yes, and if I might add in these jurisdictions where we do operate with an allocation of firm transportation, they are in markets that are in essence unbundled markets, where we do receive an allocation of basically all the assets that the utility has.  So there is a firm and equal footing on both transportation and capacity with the utility.

MR. CASS:  Well in this particular case, I don't        want to re-cover old ground, but what we're talking about in this case with Enbridge is the daily deliveries that arise equally each day of the year from direct shippers, right?

Are you with me?

MR. RAY:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  So there’s not really a storage element of that; it's really the transportation element that's key in respect of these equal daily deliveries?

MR. RAY:  Under the bundled model that Enbridge utilizes, that is correct.

MR. CASS:  All right.   Thank you.  I just wanted to be sure we’re in agreement on that.

I'll move on to something else.  I just wanted to talk about the Dawn hub for a minute or two.  You would agree with me, I assume, that the Dawn hub in Ontario is a very liquid point for the purchase and sale of gas?

MR. RAY:  I would agree, sir.

MR. CASS:  Because we're talking about a        reliability issue here, I’m going to ask you to put price aside.  Assuming price is not an issue, generally speaking, gas can be obtained at Dawn virtually any time of the year?

MR. RAY:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  So in terms of gas supply in Ontario as opposed to transportation away from Dawn, there's not a serious reliability issue around supply, leaving aside the transportation portion, because gas is available there at the liquid hub at Dawn, right?

MR. RAY:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  But for customers in Ontario and franchise areas other than Union South where the Dawn hub is located, it's not enough to say there’s gas available at Dawn; there has to be some form of transportation to get gas to them, whether from Dawn or elsewhere, right?

MR. RAY:  That’s correct, sir.

MR. CASS:  So for Ontario customers in franchise areas other than Union South, it's really the transportation that's the more critical issue than supply insofar as reliability is concerned, isn't it?

MR. RAY:  Transportation would be a critical        factor.

MR. CASS:  So that was a "yes"?

MR. RAY:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

So maybe we can take Union North as an example.  This is an Ontario franchise area that doesn't enjoy the same area as Union South, right?

MR. RAY:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Does Direct Energy do business with customers in Union North?

MR. RAY:  Both in Union North and in Union South.

MR. CASS:  Right.  Okay.  So you would appreciate  that in Union North, small-volume customers are required to be Western T-service customers, right?

MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.

MR. CASS:  So in other words, the small-volume customers there in Union North, they deliver their gas at a western point, presumably Empress, and Union arranges the        transportation to the franchise area, right?

MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.

MR. CASS:  And Direct Energy is able to operate within that context and to optimize -–

MR. RAY:  We optimize within that context, but I        would certainly point out to the Board that Union South is the preferred model that we believe provides, in essence, the levels of security, and they -- the appropriate model that we believe provides a vibrant market as well as security, where the market is not only unbundled but storage and transportation assets are allocated.

I would like to add one -– one point for the record, that in contrast to the Union Gas North versus Union Gas South, the Union Gas North model is obviously the one very similar to the one we are discussing here, which is a mean daily volume delivery.  And it's of -– you know, of my personal experience that providing a flat delivery to a market that is very -- that is weather-sensitive basically provides a significant stress on the utility to -- who is basically responsible for providing all of that incremental balancing service.  And that is why in cases where we have been involved in, we are -- we have argued for unbundling.  

We believe that not only does it provide an equitable footing for marketers and the utility with regard to availability and equitable access to assets, both from a supply security standpoint and from an equal-cost standpoint, we believe it also makes the most sense from the standpoint of better matching for gas that's being delivered to the system relative to what's being taken off the system.

MR. McINTOSH:  I would add the Enbridge panel agreed the unbundled market would lead to a more secure supply portfolio.

MR. CASS:  Just in follow-up to your previous answer, Mr. Ray, would you agree with me that if a -- assume that non-firm arrangements are an issue in respect to meeting        this flat profile of dated deliveries, would you not agree        with me, based on that assumption, there would be an even bigger issue in the scenario you've described where the deliveries are not meeting the flat profile but they’re actually to meet demand.

MR. RAY:  If in fact you were using a non-firm delivery, I would like to basically point out one particular item that I think is of substance, and this was entered into the record.

We obviously are having a big discussion around the level of firm commitment and the definition of what firm commitment means.  Can that only be met with the actual contracting of firm transportation capacity, or can that be met from another perspective?

I think Enbridge on the record has indicated that        they have a peaking supply relationship or a bilateral        contract that they have utilized that does not involve firm        transportation, but involves a firm service that is providing to their city gate the most critical molecules on that peak day.  I believe it was entered into the record that 260,000 gigaJoules a day was actually provided under that particular arrangement.

I would beg to argue that they have proven -- and even on the most constrained day -- that reliability on a bilateral contract for firm service can be provided to the system.  And this is, in essence, our particular argument within Enbridge, is:  Can firm reliable service be provided to the city gate without necessarily requiring a hammer of long-haul firm transportation capacity to be allocated to the direct purchasers on the system that would create a clear economic disadvantage?

MR. CASS:  Well, I'm actually intending to go there,        Mr. Ray, but I wonder if you could answer my question.  Do you remember this particular question?

MR. RAY:  Repeat your question.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  You were talking about a different scenario, and I put back to you the proposition in answer to your scenario that if you assume that having non-firm        upstream transportation arrangements is an issue in respect 

of a flat delivery profile, that it would be even more of an issue in the scenario you describe where deliveries would not be flat but would actually be aimed to meet demand.  That was what I put to you.

MR. RAY:  Sir, if I were -- if I had contracted a        firm versus an interruptible service, I clearly would agree that a firm service would have priority.

MR. CASS:  Let's move on.

MS. NOWINA:   Mr. Cass, can we do a time check?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  It is going a little slower than I thought.  I might be another half-hour, Madam Chair, which I think is not outside my estimate.

MS. NOWINA:  I'm wondering if we should have a break now.

MR. CASS:  I’m in the Board’s hands completely as to 

when we break.

MS. NOWINA:  Are you moving to a different topic?

MR. CASS:  I am moving to a different topic, but it’s whatever the Board wants.

MS. NOWINA:  Let's take a 20-minute break now and return at 20 minutes after 11:00.  

--- Recess taken at 10:52 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:20 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  You may continue, Mr. Cass.


MR. HOAKEN:  I'm sorry, could I say just before we start, Madam Chair, and could I apologize in advance for the fact that I'm going to have to leave just before noon?  And so I'll attempt to leave as quietly and seamlessly as possible.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Hoaken.  We'll try to struggle along without you.


MR. HOAKEN:  I'm certain of very few things, but one of them is that that won't be difficult, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.


MR. CASS:  I had said before the break that I was moving on to a new subject area, which I am.


I forgot, though, that I had one follow-up question on an answer you had given just before the break, Mr. Ray.  I hope it will be a quick follow-up.


We were discussing Union North, and I think it was at the beginning of an answer, you made a comment to the effect that Union South is your preferred model.  


I just wanted to confirm with you that in comparing Union South, on the one hand, to Enbridge and Union North on the other hand, not only do we have to take into account that the Dawn hub is right in Union South, but also there is a significant amount of storage right in the Union South franchise area that's not in the other areas, right?


MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.  But I would add for the record that it certainly seems like, in terms of a potential opportunity to enhance supply security, that, you know, potentially some expansion on the M12 that comes from Dawn, that you and TCPL have the vast majority of capacity on could be, you know, a very good option down the road for supply security.


MR. CASS:  I don't intend to argue that with you or even necessarily to disagree with you, but I would make the observation, of course, that there is diversity to be considered here, as well, that an awful lot of gas comes down that Dawn-Trafalgar system on peak day; right?


MR. RAY:  I think the thing that we have established here is that there is definitely uniquenesses in systems, and I certainly, you know, want to focus specifically on the Enbridge scenario.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  I will move on, then.

I think I was going to pick up on something you were talking about before the break.  You were talking about the nature of what firm upstream commitments are, and as I understood what you were talking about, you were talking in terms of arrangements that are not specifically firm commitments to the pipeline.


Are you with me on that?


MR. RAY:  Yes, sir.  I guess what I was referring to is there are basically two types of firm service that could be provided.  One is where a supplier would actually own the firm transportation capacity and would source that gas from a supply zone, move it across the transport pipeline to deliver to the utility, but there are also other firm bilateral buy-sell obligations where you are relying on a wholesale supplier or producer or other party, to utilize firm transportation that they have to basically give you, in essence, a bundled service where they provide the commodity and the firm transportation to you at the city gate.


MR. CASS:  But if they actually have the firm transportation, why would that be difficult, then, just to show that to Enbridge and satisfy Enbridge that the firm transportation exists?


MR. RAY:  I would say, sir, that one thing we would not know in a bilateral is what the actual contracts are, the level of service.  We let our contract provision really kind of guide that, that we were receiving a firm service.


MR. CASS:  So in terms of what commitments to the pipeline underlie that, you don't actually know?


MR. RAY:  We wouldn't necessarily know.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  So that's where I wanted to go from there.  So this presumably works for Direct Energy.  I take it that if it works for Direct Energy, it should be equally appropriate and workable for other shippers, right?


MR. RAY:  I think, you know, firm delivered services has worked in multiple jurisdictions across North America.


MR. CASS:  So to the extent that shippers pick up this, then the firm commitments to the pipeline, they wither away even more than they have already, right?


MR. RAY:  You know, hypothetically, if somebody contracts for firm transportation, then yes, just from a sheer mass standpoint, that would reduce the amount of primary transportation that would be available for you to buy directly from the pipeline.


But there is a very robust secondary market for transportation capacity, where owners of direct capacity from the pipeline can release capacity into the marketplace to another willing buyer who sees value in that capacity.  


So it's not a zero-sum game, from my vantage point.


MR. CASS:  Yes, but if others follow this approach -- for example, if the utility were to follow this on behalf of system gas customers -- then the firm commitments to the pipeline would wither away even more, right?


MR. RAY:  Again, sir, I think my view would be if a party were to take firm transportation service, that doesn't necessarily remove firm transportation from the market.  There is a vibrant secondary market where capacity is balanced between parties to ensure that the parties that are short capacity can find that capacity from parties who need it.  


As a matter of fact, I would state to the Board that I think one of the benefits of unbundling is it puts capacity into the hands of more parties, depending on the number of direct purchasers who are delivering service.  


They know that all of those parties have available capacity, as opposed to trying to focus necessarily on one particular party, the pipeline itself or the utility.


So there's a much broader -- there's more of a breath of capacity across other holders.


MR. CASS:  But these are not firm commitments to the pipeline you are talking about.  The firm commitments on behalf of the direct-shipper market on the pipeline, they don't exist in any significant volume, do they?


MR. RAY:  Can you clarify the question, please?  I'm not sure if I follow.


MR. CASS:  Well, let me go back.  You were talking about this concept where you have an arrangement with a supplier and you don't necessarily know what sort commitments to the pipeline underlie that, right?


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MR. CASS:  And I was putting to you the proposition that if that's acceptable for Direct Energy, it should be acceptable for other shippers, including the utility shipping on behalf of system-gas customers; right?


MR. RAY:  Yes, sir.


MR. CASS:  So the effect of that is there's less and less known commitment, firm commitment, to the pipeline, right?


MR. RAY:  I wouldn't say there's less and less known commitment.  Certainly I think there's availability via FERC rules for who capacity owners are.  That's readily available on the pipeline websites in terms of who has capacity and who do not.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And when one looks at the TransCanada Pipeline website in respect of direct shippers, one sees only a very low proportion of firm commitment to the pipeline, right?


MR. RAY:  But on the flip side, one also sees a significant availability of firm transportation capacity that's uncontracted.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  That's exactly where I'm going with this.  So to the extent that this approach is acceptable and perhaps even used by others in addition to Direct Energy, I suggest to you that without the firm commitment to the pipeline, there's no appropriate signals to the upstream pipeline owner in terms of the building additional facilities or even of maintaining existing facilities, without the firm commitment to pipeline, right?


MR. RAY:  I'm sorry, Mr. Cass.  Could you repeat your question?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I was suggesting you to that without the firm commitments to the pipeline on behalf of the shippers, there is no appropriate signal sent to the upstream pipeline owner, either in terms of building new facilities or even in terms of maintaining the existing facilities?


MR. RAY:  Mr. Cass, I wouldn't suspect that I would be able to determine kind of how the pipeline would actually view itself in this particular case, in terms of a need to build.  


I think we have kind of agreed that that supplier of last resort obligation and security proposition is with the utility, and we presume that there would be a case to be made between the utility and the upstream pipeline on that need for additional build.


MR. CASS:  Let's move on.

You would agree with me, I'm sure, that on the TransCanada system, TransCanada can interrupt non-firm deliveries, for example, when it's operating under design day conditions?


MR. RAY:  Yes, sir.


MR. CASS:  And I take it you would agree with me that a gas distribution utility like Enbridge, when planning for design day conditions, would be remiss if it didn't take into account the possibility of interruptions on upstream pipelines?


MR. RAY:  I think it has to take into account various factors, yes.


MR. CASS:  And that would be one of them?


MR. RAY:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  I'll move on.  


For the purpose of my next few questions, it might be best if you turn up an interrogatory response.  It's Direct Energy's response to TransCanada's Interrogatory No. 2.  I'm looking at part A of that Interrogatory No. 2 from TransCanada.

There's been some discussion in this hearing about the events of January 13th to 15th of 2009.  From my point of view, I don't need to rehash the detail of that.


But in respect of those days, Direct Energy was asked to provide daily deliveries to the CDA and EDA by service type, including, for example, STFT, right?


MR. RAY:  Yes, sir.


MR. CASS:  And you are aware that in this proceeding that there has been discussion about the availability of STFT and its use as an option to FT; right?


MR. RAY:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  So you would be aware that it would be of interest to parties to know, on those particular days, the extent to which Direct Energy did make use of STFT, right?


MR. RAY:  I think in our particular response, we felt it, you know, from a competitive standpoint, wouldn't necessarily be appropriate for us to specifically lay out, you know, in percentages, you know, pieces of capacity or different types of rate capacity that we're actually utilizing.  But I can confirm that we have utilized STFT.


MR. CASS:  I won't dwell on it.  I didn't understand why some historical days, in a winter that's now over and done with, would be that commercially sensitive.


MR. RAY:  You know, sir, again, it's been our position that we feel that that's commercially sensitive.


MR. CASS:  You couldn't have provided it under the Board's confidentiality procedure?


MR. RAY:  I think our response stands as is, sir.


MR. CASS:  All right.  I'll move on.

You've also provided some evidence about the cost of unwinding hedges.  And, for example, there's a Direct Energy answer to CME Interrogatory No. 2 on this.  


Just looking at the end of part A of the response, again, this is not something I intend to spend a lot of time on, but the indication here is this is a representation of costs; correct?


MR. RAY:  It was an estimate at the time it was completed.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  It's not an actual calculation.  In other words, you've not provided specific information about the beginning dates and the end dates of the hedges, about the volumes being hedged and those sorts of things?


MR. RAY:  We've made some assumptions, sir, in the calculations.  I think clearly at a point in time, that assumption is good for that particular day.  I think from our standpoint, we still believe the numbers could potentially be higher, could potentially be lower, but you know, it was an estimation.


MR. CASS:  Right.  It's representative, as opposed to a real precise calculation, right?


MR. RAY:  Again, it's our best estimation with the information that we have available to us at the time.


MR. CASS:  Was there something wrong with what I said in suggesting it's representative as opposed to a precise calculation?


MR. RAY:  I'm giving you the best response I can give you in this particular -- we have utilized our best ability, based on information available to us, to provide the most accurate estimate that we can provide.


MR. CASS:  I see.  Was there any reason why you couldn't provide a calculation showing the start dates and the end dates of the hedges and the volumes, and so on?


MR. RAY:  I'm not sure if there was any kind of particular assumption with regard to the detail that we were looking to provide on this particular --


MR. McINTOSH:  I would add to Mr. Ray's comment that we did look in aggregate on a five-year basis, and we're not suggesting that the entire volume would be hedged for five years.  The indication or representation that we tried to offer was just an estimate of what the cost would be for that five-year period.


As Mr. Ray said, it could be higher, it could be lower, based on the assumptions in the market at the time that we prepared this calculation.


MR. CASS:  All right.  I've move on, then.  


Moving on to a completely different subject area, I take it you would agree with me in Ontario that there either is or should be ease of entry for new players into the gas retailing business that Direct Energy operates in?


MR. RAY:  We would like that to be an assumption, yes.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  And I take it you would agree that the market is at least intended to operate competitively, and new and even existing retailers should be in a position to compete with companies like Direct Energy?


MR. RAY:  We would agree that that's correct.  We also agree there should be the appropriate level of scrutiny and financial analysis to ensure that those parties are able to perform as required per Enbridge's care.


MR. CASS:  Obviously, one way for new or existing market entrants, maybe the best way -- I'm not sure -- to compete with companies like Direct Energy is on price?


MR. RAY:  Yes, sir.


MR. CASS:  So I would suggest to you that there is nothing to stop other retailers, new entrants or even existing retailers, in order to undercut your company on price, to take greater risks with the reliability of their arrangements for the arrival of gas in Ontario.  Would you agree?


MR. RAY:  Sir, I can't comment on how another party would view a risk-reward kind of relationship with regard to supply.  I would presume, based on the history in Ontario, that marketers -- all market entrants who have, in essence, entered the market have abided by the rules, compliance for delivery to the utilities in Ontario.


MR. CASS:  I wasn't asking you to comment on what other marketers were doing.

I was suggesting to you there's nothing to prevent other marketers, in order to compete, to take greater risks with their upstream arrangements than Direct Energy, right?


MR. RAY:  Marketers are at their discretion to operate within the confines of the -- their financial and physical risk policies that are defined by their companies.


MR. CASS:  Right.  So to the extent that this was happening, in order to compete, that other marketers were taking greater risks with upstream arrangements, wouldn't you think that that should be a matter of concern to the utility?


MR. RAY:  Sir, again, I cannot comment on what -- or, you know, propose to ICG what the particular thought process would be with other marketers with regard to their view on taking risks with regard to supply in a competitive environment with us.  


I would just be, you know, completely postulating.


MR. CASS:  Again, I'm not asking you to comment on the other marketers.  I'm sorry that my questions aren't clear.

I was suggesting to you that it should be of concern to the utility if there is nothing to prevent other marketers in competing with Direct from taking greater risks with their upstream arrangements, that that should be of concern to -- 


MR. RAY:  I would presume that those marketers would view their requirements to provide firm service to the utilities the same way we would, which is abiding by the tariff, or, you know, purchaser service levels, that they would operate within those guidelines.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Well, you are making an assumption there.  My question to you is simply whether it should be of concern to the utility to make sure that there's not an opportunity for other companies to do that.


MR. McINTOSH:  Mr. Cass, we believe that part of the incenting appropriate behaviour is the applicable use of penalties, and if the penalties are set at a level to incent that appropriate behaviour and abide by the terms and conditions as prescribed by the utility, then that is part of enabling that competitive market structure you are describing.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  So we don't need to repeat our discussion on penalties.  You believe that penalties are the answer to the type of situation I was positing?


MR. McINTOSH:  Again, if I could just clarify, penalties are meant to incent the appropriate behaviour, not to compensate for necessary loss.


So, again, if the penalties are set at the levels that get that good behaviour, then we think that that is a fair and reasonable application.


MR. RAY:  I would presume, sir, that other companies -- and this is the only presumption I could make -- would look at their commitment to the utility as seriously as I would. 


Putting aside the whole discussion of penalties, if we were unable to provide our requirements to the utility to the extent that it created a supply security issue, I have a matter of concern over whether I can continue to operate in the jurisdiction, whether I might suffer the loss of my licence, you know, which leads me to be concerned about, you know, my viable future employment, which also leads me to the concern about what the press coverage of that would be, what the economic impact on my company would be, and, ultimately, what the -- what that might lead to in terms of impact on -- or overall valuation from an investor market community.


So, I mean, this is a very serious issue.  I would assume that other competitors would take it as serious as we would.


MR. CASS:  Well, that's useful.  I wasn't commenting at all on Direct, and in fact that was why I was using the example of other competitors coming in and trying to compete with Direct on products, which you've agreed with me is a serious issue.


MR. RAY:  But, again, sir, I'm just trying to -- you know, I think you've asked me to try to understand how other markets' marketers may behave, and I'm just trying to give you an idea.  My presumption is they would have the same type of view on the gravity of basically taking -- you know, taking a significant amount of risk that was inappropriate as I would.


MR. CASS:  That's your presumption?


MR. RAY:  Yes, sir.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Let's move on.  I don't think you need to turn it up, but I would just want to remind you to start off in my next area.  


There was an interrogatory that asked about a Connecticut proceeding that Direct was involved in and the interrogatory was responded to.

Do you remember that?


MR. RAY:  Is that the one-page document, sir?


MR. CASS:  That's where I'm coming to.  I just wanted to mention that this proceeding in Connecticut, it's already been mentioned in an interrogatory and an interrogatory response.  This is just my shortcut to avoid having a lot of lead-in questions to this Connecticut proceeding.  


But I think it was -- Enbridge had an interrogatory to Direct on this proceeding, and Direct responded to that.  Do you remember that?


MR. RAY:  I'm sorry, sir, I don't know if I remember the exact respond to that.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, let's turn it up.  It's -- yes, it's Enbridge's Interrogatory No. 10 to Direct.


MR. RAY:  I'm ready, sir.


MR. CASS:  All right.  And, again, I was hoping to avoid a lot of introductory questions.  But again, then, just looking at this interrogatory to set the stage, this was a proceeding before the Connecticut Department of Public Utility Control, in which Direct Energy Services LLC was involved, right?


MR. RAY:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And I provided to you a document from that proceeding.  It's just one page, and it has at the top of it "OCC-10".


MR. RAY:  I have that.


MR. CASS:  You have that?  All right.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's mark that as an exhibit.


MR. SCHUCH:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Let's mark that as HD3.4, and that would be OCC-10.

EXHIBIT NO. HD3.4:  DOCUMENT MARKED "OCC-10" FROM DIRECT ENERGY SERVICES' RESPONSE TO ENBRIDGE INTERROGATORY NO. 10


MR. HOAKEN:  Is it possible just to identify, perhaps with more precision or clarity, exactly what it is?  I surmise it's an interrogatory response.


MR. CASS:  I was hoping the witness could do is that for me.  I believe it's an interrogatory and a response on behalf of Direct Energy Services LLC.  Is that in accordance with your --


MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Again, I didn't want to spend a lot of time on it.  I just wanted to take you to the middle of the response, and there is an indication there that for the portion of the design days served by pipeline supplies, primary firm capacity must be maintained to assure system reliability.

I wanted to confirm with you that that was the position of Direct Energy Services LLC before the Connecticut regulator.


MR. RAY:  Yes, it was, sir.  And, again, in context for the Board, and I don't want to repeat myself, but I think I had described the position where, in this particular jurisdiction  -- or, I'm sorry, I may have been speaking about New York then, but within Connecticut we had -- there's basically an identical pipeline situation, where literally there is no firm capacity available in the marketplace for contracting.  


I did actually even check on the bulletin board yesterday and confirmed that the Connecticut utilities currently own 81 percent of the available capacity, or of all the capacity of firm transport that there is on Tennessee pipeline into their utilities.  


So this is a unique scenario and a constrained market with no available capacity.  And under those circumstances, we have commented accordingly.


MR. CASS:  In those circumstances --  I'm sorry, I didn't intend to carry on much further, but in the circumstances you described, in fact what was happening in the proceeding was Direct Energy was asking for allocation of this upstream transportation, right?


MR. RAY:  Upstream transportation, as well as other upstream assets, including storage and peaking capacity.


MR. CASS:  Right.  So in the context of looking for an allocation, of actually coming to the regulator and asking for something, Direct Energy was prepared to make this statement about design day having to be served by firm capacity, right?


MR. RAY:  Within the context of this particular jurisdiction, that's correct.


MR. CASS:  All right.

Thank you, Madam Chair.  That completes the cross-examination on behalf of Enbridge.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

Mr. Mondrow, I understand you are up next.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MONDROW:


MR. MONDROW:  I am.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Good morning, panel.

Madam Chair, through you, I would just like to express a concern, and I don't mean to be overly pejorative to Mr. Cass, because I think this has been, at least in this hearing, the case in other instances, but I would note for the record that this information that Mr. Cass has gone through this morning, some of it fairly extensive from other jurisdictions.  While it was provided to the witnesses, to their counsel, it was not provided to other parties.


And as a party potentially adverse in interests on this issue to the utility, I take exception to that.  So I would simply put on the record a request going forward in this proceeding, and others, that parties extend the courtesy of copying materials to all intervenors, so that everyone can prepare for their cross-examinations.


MS. NOWINA:  Does it affect your cross, Mr. Mondrow?


MR. MONDROW:  Not having read the documents in total or investigated the jurisdictions, it's not clear to me.  I'm not sure I could rectify that today, in any event, so I propose to proceed and accept the risk of doing so, but I think it would have been better to have some notice of the jurisdictions and the topics provided through this material for further investigation, if we deemed that to be appropriate.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thanks Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for the question, Madam Chair. 


Mr. Ray, Mr. Cass put to you examples from a number of jurisdictions, and my notes say, if I'm correct, that one of those was Pennsylvania, and we've got a couple of documents from Pennsylvania but I don't recall you being given an opportunity to describe the transportation situation to the Pennsylvania market.  


So I wondered if you could just ask you about that, and I note that Exhibit HD3.2, which was the Pennsylvania PUC order that Mr. Cass put to you -- and, in particular, he took you to Annex A, which were the Safety and Reliability Guidelines, and he took you to some excerpts in respect of firm transportation capacity.


I note that this was an order arising from a public meeting held in October of the year 2000.  Do you see that on the first page of the document?


MR. RAY:  Yes, that is correct.


Mr. MONDROW:  It's my understanding that in the year 2000, the Pennsylvania gas supply market was transportation-constrained.  Is that your understanding, as well?


MR. RAY:  I have to say I do not recall, sir.


MR. MONDROW:  All right.  I do understand that as recently as the last few years, there's a pipeline that's called the Rockies Express, or the REX, that has been recently commissioned.  It's a fairly large pipe.  I think it's in the order of 1 Bcf of capacity and it serves the Pennsylvania market.  Are you aware of that pipeline?


MR. RAY:  It's actually in the order of about 1.8 Bcf.


MR. MONDROW:  And it serves the Pennsylvania market?


MR. RAY:  It can serve the Pennsylvania market.


MR. MONDROW:  So that -- the commissioning of that pipeline which serves that market would suggest to me that that area which the pipeline now serves was constrained enough in years leading up to the commissioning of the pipeline to send the appropriate investment signal; would you agree with that analysis?


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And I just wanted to pick up on that theme.

Mr. Cass was talking to you a few minutes ago about signals for investment in new capacity, and I assume from the position Direct Energy has taken in this proceeding that you would agree with me that there is, at this point in time, sufficient delivery -- transportation delivery capacity to Ontario to preclude the need for more extensive contracting of long-term firm transportation?


MR. RAY:  Yes, I would.


MR. MONDROW:  To meet both normal day and peak day requirements?


MR. RAY:  And peak day requirements.  Yes, sir.


MR. MONDROW:  I think you talked a bit about the basis points differential that's applicable vis-a-vis Henry hub to Ontario, and you compared that to some other jurisdictions.  I took you to be concluding that the market, as reflected in that basis point differential, also reflects the lack of transportation constraint to the Ontario market?


MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.


MR. MONDROW:  And would you agree with me that a mandate from this Board for increased firm transportation contracting, particularly on a long-term basis, would alter that signal?  It would effectively interfere with that market signal? 

MR. RAY:  Yes, sir.


MR. MONDROW:  And in an extreme case, a regulator intervention which alters market signals could send a signal for new capacity development that would, in fact, be uneconomic; do you agree?


MR. RAY:  Potentially correct, yes. 

MR. MONDROW:  And that probably goes well beyond the 200,000 gigaJoules we're talking about.  The ultimate conclusion of those sorts of mandates may well be to distort market signals in an uneconomic fashion?


MR. RAY:  I would agree.


MR. MONDROW:  Would you agree that this Board should exercise some care in kind of interfering, as it were, with the functioning of the market where the market is mature?


MR. RAY:  It's Direct Energy's opinion that this is a liquid market and per the evidence, we do not see a need of an additional -- an additional increase of firm capacity --


MR. MONDROW:  Now I just want to pick up on one other question -- before I get to my own questions -- that Mr. Cass asked you earlier.  He asked you whether Direct Energy could optimize long-term firm transportation if you are mandated through this Board's process to contract for long- term firm transportation as a result of this proceeding.  And I think your answer was that there's some potential to optimize that.

I struggle a bit in understanding how you optimize when there's really only one alternative to meet the mandate.  Could you help me with that?


MR. RAY:  In this particular instance, the optimization there would -- that particular capacity would be set aside for our MDV, no question about that.  And assuming that we used only that delivery capacity, then there would be no optimization opportunity.  Assuming that we were able to optimize from a standpoint of finding an alternative delivery route, maybe via delivered gas from another supplier, we would want to mitigate our costs that we've incurred with regard to the fixed example expenditure for that transportation capacity, which would in essence be -- a portion of which may not be necessary for us to utilize.  

So from an optimization standpoint, it is actually more of a standpoint of trying to recoup a stranded cost scenario.


MR. MONDROW:  In that scenario, you'd be attempting to optimize by selling some of that transportation into a market where the demand would have been dampened by the mandate that the Board proclaimed as a result of this proceeding?


MR. RAY:  Yeah, and clearly the indication would be that there would not likely be a significant demand for that capacity, and the market value of that capacity would be impaired relative to the tolls.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


MR. MCINTOSH:  I would add, Mr. Mondrow, if we were mandated to take firm service or FT, then there would be different version rates, and there's FT credits that are associated with that.  But as Mr. Ray rightly pointed out, it would be mitigation of increased costs, and Enbridge bundled service with all their different pipeline routes would, in fact, have a lesser cost capability to deliver. 

Also, with Direct being active in many jurisdictions that Mr. Ray identified in both Canada and the US, there are other pipeline options that we can seek to optimize with regards to, again, trying to squeeze the value out of the various pipelines, whether they be in Canada or the US.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for that.  

Panel, I took your point a few minutes ago and indeed earlier in your interrogatory responses that you are reticent to provide specific commercial arrangements, either underpinning last January or going forward, for that matter, and we certainly want to respect that.  But I want to talk to you a bit about how you actually manage your delivery commitment in the Enbridge territory, so please feel free to push back a bit if I get too close to commercial sensitivity.

But let me just start and see how far we get.  I assume that you, in fact -- and we can take this past January as an example.  During that period, you had contracted directly for some long-term firm transportation on TCPL’s main line.


MR. RAY:  We have contracted for some STFT for that period of time.


MR. MONDROW:  STFT, but not LTFT?


MR. RAY:  I am actually -– I'm not certain.


MR. McINTOSH:  I'm not sure.


MR. RAY:  I'm actually not certain.


MR. MONDROW:  And could you give us an indication of how much -- as a proportion, as a very broad proportion -- STFT you will use to underpin your delivery requirements during peak season?

MR. RAY:  I would venture to say that it would be a proportion of probably less than half of our requirements.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And do you -- when you contract for STFT, do you adjust the amount of STFT that you contract for as the season progresses, in light of your forecast of weather and demand during the balance of that season?


MR. RAY:  We would certainly try to scope, as available, our STFT commitments relative to what we would consider to be the months that were to have the highest potential of peak day requirement.


MR. McINTOSH:  Another factor, Mr. Mondrow, would be the toll rate associated with FT and the relative certainly that STFT could offer, depending on when its contracted for.  It's just another factor.


MR. MONDROW:  So if you were proceeding through the coming winter, for example, and the forecast was for very cold weather, you would tend to contract more STFT, I assume, than you would if the forecast was for a mild winter?

MR. RAY:  Certainly our view on STFT would not be static.  There would be -- there would be various areas, including weather, that could potentially have an impact on our levels of commitment of that particular capacity.


MR. MONDROW:  Is there a way that you could demonstrate to Enbridge Gas Distribution the STFT capacity that you contracted for as the winter season progresses?


MR. RAY:  I believe that that commitment would be made available via TransCanada Pipeline.  I believe that there's an -- and I may be wrong in this -- I believe there's an index of customers on capacity holders for that short-term firm transportation.


MR. MONDROW:  But let's assume -- and there may be-- 


MR. RAY:  Again, I'm making the assumption.  I could be incorrect.


MR. MONDROW:  I actually intend to ask the TransCanada panel about that, so maybe we’ll get some information.  But assuming that for some reason, whether it's for lack of that public information or otherwise, Enbridge would be comforted by getting information as the season progresses on how much STFT you have contracted for, is that something you think could be provided on a confidential basis?  

Or alternatively, perhaps, as you’re conferring, would you consider your views on providing that to the Board on a confidential basis?


MR. RAY:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question again?


MR. MONDROW:  Now I have a two-part question.  If you keep going, I'll have a three-part question.  

Really what -- we've talked a little bit about the fact that you do contract for STFT and you've given us a very rough sense of proportion, I would suggest.  And I'm wondering whether -- how Direct Energy would feel about sharing that information on some basis, at least either to the regulatory or the LDC as a market administrator as the season progresses, so that we could actually start to get some -- or someone could start to get a better feel or data for the extent to which availability of that capacity becomes a problem.


MR. RAY:  I do believe the kind of release of information relative to your supply portfolio in a competitive environment can be a slippery slope.  I don't believe that would necessarily be our position that we would want to do so.  

However, I would state that there are obviously other market participants that would have probably pretty adamant views on this particular issue which would have to collectively be agreed upon, and certainly that, I think, is an area that could be pursued for further discussion across the marketing community.


MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  Thank you for that.

I assume that among the tools you use to fulfill your delivery commitments to Enbridge are what have been termed "versions" on the pipeline systems that you contract on, either short-term or long-term?


MR. RAY:  I actually with cannot respond on that, to be honest with you.  I don't have -- I don't have the details on whether that's actually being utilized for Enbridge.


MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Now, as I understand it -- and perhaps you can share this with us -- some portion of your supplies are in fact contracted from others, from the large brokers?


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And the big three brokers that I'm aware of are Shell, Nexen and BP.


MR. RAY:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And would it be reasonable for us to assume that Shell and Nexen and BP, in turn, underpin their delivery commitments to you with a portfolio of resources, some of which would be firm transportation, either short-term or long-term?


MR. RAY:  I believe it's reasonable to make that assumption.


MR. MONDROW:  Would you also agree with me that -- Mr. Cass talked to you a little bit about some other marketers, not Direct Energy, and potentially taking more risk to compete with you on price.  


It would seem to me -- and I would ask for your view on this -- that a less established marketer in Ontario would be more likely to use one of the big suppliers than Direct Energy, who have a big customer base, and your own trading desk.  Would you agree with that supposition?


MR. RAY:  I, again, would propose that I'm not sure what the view would be of a smaller upstart marketer in terms of their view on supply.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, fair enough.

Can I ask you to turn up a response from Enbridge to an interrogatory asked by Shell Energy?  And it's Exhibit I, Tab 12, schedule 14.  


And you actually refer to this response in your evidence, which is Exhibit L, Tab 7, and you refer to it at the top of page 6.


MR. RAY:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the -- 


MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  The interrogatory exhibit number is Exhibit I, Tab 12, schedule 14.  It's Enbridge's response to Shell Energy Interrogatory No. 14.  


In your evidence, which is Exhibit L, Tab 7, at the top of page 6, in reference to this interrogatory response, you say:

"It is interesting to note that Enbridge Gas Distribution has been decreasing the proportion of TCPL FT transport that EGD flows over the last five years, as demonstrated in Shell IR No. 14."  


I wonder if you could just elaborate a bit on what you think the figures in this Shell Energy Interrogatory No. 14 demonstrate?


MR. RAY:  From my review of the schedule, it appears to show that there is a significant reduction of firm or FT contracting with regard to Enbridge on the TCPL system, most of which was precipatory in the years 2004 and 2005.


MR. MONDROW:  That might be attributable to the -- well, I'm not sure what it's attributable to, so I wanted to ask you for your view.  But I gather what you are saying is you are implying this demonstrates that Enbridge itself has availed more use of non-firm transportation relative to firm transportation?


MR. RAY:  For me, what I think it demonstrates is that Enbridge has been able to contract for alternative sources of firm transportation, and I think with the advent of availability of short-haul transportation, of which they are a very large holder of capacity on Union M12, that it has reduced their -- in addition to other routes that have come available.


With transportation coming down through Alliance and into Vector, I believe the record shows that Enbridge has a significant amount of capacity that it owns, also from that particular route into its franchise areas.  


So I believe those alternative routes have really led to the reduction of the TCPL long-term -- long-term firm.


MR. MONDROW:  And, concomitantly, the reduction of demand overall for the TCPL capacity?


MR. RAY:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  At page 7 of your evidence, you talked a bit about the costs of the proposal, and I understand that the $53 million over five years you put forward there and you had some discussion with Mr. Cass about is the cost of unwinding existing Ontario landed gas hedges and putting on new hedges at Alberta in response to the need to shift your supply effectively to the Alberta receipt point; that's right?


MR. RAY:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And in addition to that cost, we would have to add the cost differential between the long-term firm transportation costs and your current transportation arrangements if we wanted to get a more complete picture of the cost implications of Enbridge -- 


MR. RAY:  This certainly wasn't meant to be a complete picture.  It was definitely isolating an aspect of costs that could be incurred.  There certainly could be additional costs associated with the proposal that's been made by Enbridge.


MR. MONDROW:  Can you provide any rough estimate of the difference between the long-term firm transportation proposal cost and your current transportation costs that we could add to this 53 million to get a more complete picture?


MR. RAY:  I would say, at this point in time, I would not be prepared to be able -- to answer that.


MR. MONDROW:  That would be on the basis of commercial concern?


MR. RAY:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  But you would agree with me that there would be an additional amount?


MR. RAY:  I would agree with you there would be an additional cost.


MR. MONDROW:  And would it be a material amount?


MR. RAY:  Yes, it would be a material amount.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Is gas retailing competitive -- gas retailing in Ontario a competitive business?


MR. KHOJA:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And your margins on that business are under consistent pressure?


MR. KHOJA:  I would say that's a fairly accurate statement.


MR. MONDROW:  And you are constantly attempting to get the lowest price possible for your customers?


MR. KHOJA:  We always seek to optimize our supply in transportation portfolio to the most competitive price that we can.


MR. MONDROW:  Consistent with your obligations to your customers and to the market, I would assume?


MR. KHOJA:  Absolutely.


MR. MONDROW:  And you generally quote your retail gas supply prices down to a tenth of a cent?


MR. KHOJA:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And shaving a few tenths of a cents off the price could make a difference, from a sales perspective?


MR. KHOJA:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Now, Enbridge's witnesses have mentioned a couple of times that your customers right now, pending the introduction of the new CIS system, pay for long-term firm transportation based on Enbridge's weighted transportation costs, and you, as a direct-purchase ABC customer, get a credit for transportation costs based on TCPL's long-term firm transportation tolls.


Would it generally be safe for us to assume that your own transportation costs that underpin your obligations to your customers are lower than would be the case if you contracted for LTFT to underpin 100 percent of your daily delivery requirement?


MR. KHOJA:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question?


MR. MONDROW:  Is it safe for us to assume that your current transportation costs underlying your deliveries to Ontario are less than your transportation costs would be under Enbridge's proposal?


MR. KHOJA:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  So obviously there is a positive difference.  There's an amount of money that represents a difference between the transportation credit you get, which is higher than your actual transportation costs?


MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I wonder if I might just interject to make a comment.

Lawyers use the term called "sweetheart cross-examination".  I'm sure the Board is very familiar with it.  I wasn't aware, when I went ahead with my cross-examination, as to which parties had clearly taken a position one way or another on this issue, but Mr. Mondrow confirmed at the beginning of his cross-examination that he is adverse to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  


That effectively means that this is all a sweetheart cross-examination.  I don't object to that, in principle.  That happens.  It happens before the Board, but what I do object to is the amount of leading of the witnesses when, in fact, they are witnesses of the same interest as Mr. Mondrow.  I don't have a problem with him asking questions, but to me, I suggest to the Board it is quite inappropriate to have this much leading of witnesses who are common in interest.  

Now, I think that's probably something we can just save for final argument, but I wanted to get that on the record before Mr. Mondrow completes.  I don't think it's appropriate to do this extent of leading of witnesses on a sweetheart cross-examination.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I'm going to continue with my examination, sweetheart or not, following the observation that in this forum, there are always a range of interests, and we generally don’t polarize and dictate cross-examination orders by whether a party is opposed to a proposal or in support of a proposal.  

So with that observation, if Mr. Cass wants to deal with it in argument, we’ll deal with it in argument.  I’m going to continue, subject to concerns from the Panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps, Mr. Mondrow, you can phrase your questions in a way that we get most of the information from the witnesses and not from you.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, Madam Chair, I'll proceed with due heed of the Panel’s suggestion.  I do take exception to the notion I'm bounded or precluded in my approach to examination by the nature of my client's interests.  But I would rather not engage in an argument.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It has to do with the value of the questions, and the -- so if we can get the information from the witness panel, not from the question, that would be greater probative value.  Sweetheart or not, I think is -- I think we need to be cautious about the extent to which there is a kind of feeding evidence through questions rather than through answers.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir.  I'll pay some heed to that.


MR. KHOJA:  Mr. Mondrow, if I may, you asked earlier about sort of the price that customers pay and the difference between that and sort of our transportation cost, as well as the credit that's received by us from Enbridge for that transportation service.  That is purely a function of the limitations of Enbridge's current billing system, which does not allow the transportation cost to be currently split out from the distribution charges.


MR. MONDROW:  Do you pocket that difference as margin?


MR. KHOJA:  Do we pocket that difference as margin?  I think what we would say is that that is taken into consideration of our overall supply cost, including commodity, including transportation, and that's taken into consideration when we are pricing out.  Right now in the Enbridge territory, the only item we can compete is on the gas supply charge.  So I would say that all those factors are considered in retail pricing.


MR. McINTOSH:  And Mr. Mondrow, if I could add, in the new world, when we get there, it will -- transportation will be an opportunity for Direct as a company to compete going forward, once it's separated out on the new billing system, as I understand it.


MR. MONDROW:  And if Enbridge's proposal in this proceeding is accepted by the Board, it would require your transportation costs to rise, based on the evidence you provided a few minutes ago.  I assume -– well, what would that do to your pricing?


MR. RAY:  It would clearly increase our overall pricing.  The most expensive route to the Enbridge system is the long-term main line under firm transportation.  So clearly it would have a -– it would put us at a disadvantage to the utility that is clearly shown in evidence, that its rate would be lower than the -- it's lower than the prevailing toll rate, and it would be lower than the projected reset of that rate next year.


MR. McINTOSH:  Going forward, it would force us to wear significant toll risk as a competitive retailer.


MR. MONDROW:  A few times, panel, you referred to some other markets where there are requirements for you to either take assignment of or otherwise demonstrate from transportation as unbundled markets.  You distinguished those markets from the Enbridge market.  I wonder if you could elaborate a little bit, in reference to your MDV commitment, how the unbundling of this market would be an alternative to Enbridge's proposal for dealing with security of supply concerns.


MR. RAY:  If I can compare and contrast, there are several areas that would have an implication on this particular market area.  For one, again, it would put direct marketers in a position where they would be required to deliver a volumetric amount that is consistent with the flows on the system.  So I think it would provide a better balancing and would put less requirements, obviously, on the utility to have to fill in those holes.  

It would also provide for an equitable allocation of both assets of transportation and storage to all direct participants across Enbridge's system, which would provide a much better direct competition.  It would, in my assessment, provide more opportunity for suppliers to diversify their portfolios in terms of being able to source gas from multiple supply basins as opposed to necessarily being isolated to one particular location.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, panel.  

Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  

CCC, Ms. Girvan, are you doing the cross-examination for CCC?


MS. GIRVAN:  Could I ask for your indulgence to go after the lunch break?  Mr. Mondrow covered off a fair bit of what I was going to talk about, and I can just take the time to condense my questions.  

Someone else can go ahead, if that's all right.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.

Mr. DeVellis is not here.  Mr. Killeen, are you ready to go now or would you rather wait, as well?


MR. KILLEEN: I'm prepared to go, if you’d like.   Thank you, Madam Chair.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. KILLEEN:

MR. KILLEEN:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Bill Killeen and I work for a company called ECNG Energy.  I'm here today just to understand the implications of the Enbridge proposal on the end-use customer, so that's the context that my questions will be coming from.

Now, as I understand it, Direct Energy typically offers products out there in the marketplace that are of a certain term.  Specifically, quite common here in Ontario is a one- or three- or five-year offer; is that correct?


MR. KHOJA:  That's correct 

MR. KILLEEN:  And when you sell those products to consumers, you are typically going to be buying the gas for a term that matches the contract that the customer has signed up for?


MS. NOWINA:  May I ask that we pause for a moment?  I can tell we are going to have the problem with the mics again.  Does anyone have their mics on besides the witness panel?  No?

Mr. Killeen, I might ask you to move to a different mic.  It seems to be that it's that one that is the problem. 

MR. KILLEEN:  It was a problem last week, too.  Sure, I'll move.  Is that any better?   

To rephrase that question -- must be the steel plate in my head.


MS. NOWINA:  Try one more.  We're doing diagnostics here.  If that isn't the problem, then it's you.


MR. KILLEEN:  I have this problem at airports.  

MS. NOWINA:  It’s your shoes.

MR. KILLEEN:  I don't have those steel-plated shoes on today, so I should be fine.


MR. RAY:  Mr. Killeen, to answer your question, our primary product that we do offer in the marketplace is a fixed-price product and we do on that for various terms, and due to the price risk associated with that, it would require us to forward-hedge in conjunction with the terms that we are selling.


MR. KILLEEN:  That seems reasonable and prudent that you want to match costs with revenue streams and lock in your margins, so I think you've answered my next question.  You have hedges in place?


MR. RAY:  That’s correct, sir.


MR. KILLEEN:  And because you have customers that are on five-year contracts, you would have hedges in place for those consumers?


MR. RAY:  That is correct, sir.


MR. KILLEEN:  Thank you.

I would like to just probe quickly an area that has been touched upon by Mr. Mondrow, as well as earlier by Mr. Cass, and that was the discussion on basis.  


I'm not going to go back historically and probe the area of how your company has experienced those costs in your portfolio.  I understand that's confidential.  But what I would like to do is look ahead to understand, again, what the proposal will be on end-use customers.  


You indicated earlier that you are very familiar with the market and the value of transportation, as well as commodity in the marketplace; is that correct?


MR. RAY:  Yes, sir.


MR. KILLEEN:  Would you be aware of what the basis or transportation value is to the Enbridge CDA commencing this coming November 2009, forward for one year, let's say?


MR. RAY:  I would venture to say that the coming winter would trade at around a 65-cent premium to the Henry hub, and the following summer would probably trade at a level of around 40 cents to the Henry hub.


MR. KILLEEN:  I have to congratulate you on your memory.  Those are actually the numbers I was looking at yesterday as I was preparing for this.  


My point in getting those numbers on the table is if I'm an end-use consumer today or Direct Energy consumer or Direct Energy employee, and I wanted to now purchase transportation to the Enbridge CDA for the coming year in Canadian dollars per gJ, can you just estimate what that would work out to?


MR. RAY:  I believe that currently it is $1.19 per gJ to contract firm transportation from Empress to the CDA.


MR. KILLEEN:  That is certainly the value on the TransCanada system today.  I'm just asking you if you were to go to a third party and procure transportation for one year starting November of 2009, based on the basis information you just discussed, is it fair to say that that would work out to around $1.40 or $1.50 Canadian per gJ, that approximate level?


MR. MCINTOSH:  It would be that approximate level.  As you rightly say, it's a very dynamic market.


MR. KILLEEN:  Yes.


MR. MCINTOSH:  But just to be clear, I mean the longer-term firm service I think you are referring to, Mr. Killeen, the TransCanada estimate is going to $1.44 for the upcoming year, 2010.  The $1.19 you referred to is the current rate and the short-term firm rate that is being quoted right now.


MR. KILLEEN:  Thank you for that, because that was my next question.  We've had evidence about the TransCanada estimate for next year's toll.  If you are a shipper on FT, you also incur some other costs, and specifically, those costs would be the additional costs of the fuel as well as the cost to get the gas from your point of purchase in Alberta, the AECO hub and the Empress border; is that correct?


MR. MCINTOSH:  That's correct.


MR. KILLEEN:  And those costs for the AECO to Empress piece were somewhere in the 10- to 15-cent a gJ range?  


MR. MCINTOSH:  Depending if you contract for firm delivery at the Empress border or if you take it in the secondary market, it would be in that 10- to 15-cent range.  I believe the exact price is 14.7 cents.


MR. KILLEEN:  And fuel today would be -- an estimate, I will throw out the assumption here -- of 30 cents a gJ?


MR. MCINTOSH:  That's dependent upon the price of the underlying commodity.  It's roughly 3-ish percent, which, again, varies based on TransCanada's requirement.


MR. KILLEEN:  So there would be, shall we say, a savings available to end-use customers based on the numbers we were just discussing there.  The TCPL option would be approximately $1.44 plus 15, plus 30, that type of -- $1.80, $1.90 range?


MR. MCINTOSH:  I would agree with that.  What I think you are getting is the cost versus value of transportation and the relative merit that the market places on it.  So, typically, for the numbers I looked at before in preparation for this, the winter prices, around $1.19, it was -- the cost of using TransCanada was about -- was close to the value; that is, the market differential between buying Alberta gas and flying it or buying a delivered Ontario gas supply.  


Now, going forward, we had to re-plough old ground, but introduce this toll risk going forward because of the uncertainty about the TransCanada toll.


MR. KILLEEN:  So can we kind of conclude this area?  Would you agree that the potential impact on Ontario consumers is significantly higher transportation costs of this -- of the proposal as it stands to move to TCPL FT?


MR. MCINTOSH:  In this 10 seconds in the marketplace, yes, I would agree with that.


MR. KILLEEN:  Now, one other quick area.

Consumers choose to go to direct purchase -- choose to go to the direct-purchase route largely for two main reasons, one of which would be that they are trying to save on their energy costs, and a second reason could be that they want to control their costs?


MR. MCINTOSH:  I would agree with that.  I think price surety is one of the key value drivers that companies like Direct can offer consumers.


MR. KILLEEN:  And not only Direct customers, but the customers who I represent today can go and buy their transportation or their gas for a forward period of their choice; is that correct?


MR.  MCINTOSH:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear the...


MR. KILLEEN:  Customers -- your customers or your company can go out today and procure the gas, procure the transport, with some certainty in what that cost is today?


MR. MCINTOSH:  Yes.  I mean, the goal is to hedge up your costs or to lock in your costs versus your revenue stream, so, yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  I think that concludes the questions that I had for this panel.  I appreciate your time today.  Thank you very much.

Sorry for the confusion on the microphone.


MS. NOWINA:  No problem, not your fault.  Thank you very much.  We'll break now until 1:30.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:27 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:36 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Did any matters come up during the break?  All right.  So Ms. Campbell tells me that who we have next is Ms. Girvan and then Mr. MacIntosh.  I'm looking for you; you would like to ask a few questions.  And following Mr. MacIntosh, Mr. Cass, if you feel that you need to ask some further questions, we’ll give you the opportunity then, before Board Staff.


MR. CASS:  Fine.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. GIRVAN:


MS. GIRVAN:  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  My name is Julie Girvan.  I’m with the Consumers Council of Canada.  I'm not a lawyer, so you'll have to be patient with me.


MR. RAY:  Neither am I.


MS. GIRVAN:  That's all good.  I just wanted to quickly tell you -- in terms of the objective that we have with respect to this proceeding and the cross-examination of both your company and EGD -- first of all, we're trying to determine if, in EGD's words, there's a significant risk to distribution system reliability arising from the decline of firm transportation to its franchise area.

Second, if the problem can be substantiated, we're looking for the most cost-effective solution to address this problem for the winter of 2009-2010.  That's for all customers, direct-purchase and system-gas customers.

Third, if we determine a cost-effective solution for the next winter, we're looking for the fairest way to allocate those costs amongst EGD's customers; once again, direct-purchase customers and system-gas customers.

And fourth, we’d like to explore the extent to which any solution may negatively impact the direct-purchase market in Ontario.

So just overlaying those objectives, that’s what my questions are going to be dealing with.  So just to cover off a bit of a summary of what Mr. Mondrow asked you, and I just want to confirm that currently, Direct, your arrangements for your ABC customers are a mix of ST and other products but not firm -- long-term firm transportation.


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  And I take it -- I think you said this, but I just want to confirm that the cost of those arrangements today are less than long-term firm transportation.


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  And I also want to confirm that you're not prepared to disclose your arrangements or the cost of those arrangements today.


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  Now just to put an example here.  If I'm a customer of Direct, and let's say I signed a contract for five years at 30 cents a cubic meter based on the commodity cost.  Now, if your transportation cost -- let's say I did that -– excuse me, let’s say I did that two years ago.  So if your transportation costs today are less than they were when I signed that contract, I don't get that benefit directly; is that correct?


MR. KHOJA:  As we stated earlier, our overall commodity charge that we charge for gas supply takes into consideration our current supply portfolio and our transportation portfolio.  So that is factored into the retail price that we set for customers.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But having said that, if I had made the decision that 30 cents was an acceptable commodity cost for me two years ago, and your transportation costs have declined because you are telling me that's an all-in price, I don't get the benefit directly of those reduced transportation costs; is that correct?


MR. KHOJA:  I didn't say that it's an all-in price.  What I'm saying is when we establish retail pricing, we take into consideration a variety of cost factors.  We look at commodity, we look at transportation.  There's credit costs.  Mr. Ray can elaborate on the various other aspects of wholesale operational costs that get factored into cost of goods sold.


MS. GIRVAN:  But the given is, as you've noted earlier, the CIS constraints that customers pay the Enbridge firm transportation costs.  If your costs are reduced, I don't get the benefits today.


MR. KHOJA:  You pay the fixed price that you entered into with Direct Energy at the time you signed your contract.


MR. MCINTOSH:  Likewise, you would not get the change in commodity price costs.  Again, it’s the surety of price that --


MS. GIRVAN:  I realize that.  I guess my question is really more specific to transportation.


MR. KHOJA:  As we don't control the transportation on the bill currently, yes, we are sort of at Enbridge's, you know, mercy as it relates to the transportation charges.

MS. GIRVEN:  So assuming that –-

MR. KHOJA:  Our customers are, I should say.


MS. GIRVAN:  Assuming that the CIS system is changed as planned, how would this change in terms of how you reflect reduced transportation costs through to your customers?


MR. KHOJA:  We would reflect our overall supply –- our overall transportation or portfolio of transportation costs.  That's what our transportation costs, essentially, to customers would reflect, what our overall portfolio costs are.


MS. GIRVAN:  So as a customer, how would I know that that's what you are charging me?


MR. KHOJA:  Because you are going to see that on your bill, post -- effective implementation of the CIS system.


MS. GIRVAN:  What I've done is I've just copied -- it's part of the record but it's provided in TransCanada undertaking -- sorry, Direct's answers to TransCanada questions, and that's provided at Exhibit I, Tab 16, question 4.  Essentially what it is, is it's a link to Direct's residential price protection plan contracts.


MR. KHOJA:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  If you refer just to the first page which is on the right of the front -- there’s four pages included on the handout -- I just would like some clarification from a customer perspective what your ability is to charge your customers for transportation and storage.  And if I read under "other charges," it states:

"The amounts you will be charged by your utility for us if we bill you directly in addition to the energy charges.  Other charges may include storage and transportation charges."


Do you see that?


MR. KHOJA:  I do.


MS. GIRVAN:  So I'm just trying to understand going forward if we have changes here arising out of changes in your transportation system, as a customer, how do I know I’m being fairly charged for transportation?


MR. KHOJA:  As a customer, you are going to know what your transportation charges are as it will be stated on the bill.  Customers will be able to assess if that rate is competitive and they will be able to compare that rate to other marketers' rates and they will be able to compare that rate to what Enbridge charges.


MS. GIRVAN:  This clause also allows you potentially to pass on any increased costs to your customers arising from increased costs in transportation; is that correct?


MR. KHOJA:  As it relates specifically to transportation and storage, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, if I can just interject, I think we should assign an exhibit number to this, and that would be HD3.5.  And it is entitled "Direct Energy terms and conditions for your national gas and/or electricity price protection plan."  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. HD 3.5:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED DIRECT ENERGY TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR YOUR NATIONAL GAS AND/OR ELECTRICITY PRICE PROTECTION PLAN


MS. GIRVAN:  I think I heard you earlier talking about different scenarios if the Board does determine there is a system reliability problem, and I think that you said that you believe that the short-term firm transportation scenario was an appropriate one.


MR.  MCINTOSH:  Again, like you, we had some -- have some questions with regard to system reliability being an issue, but again, if the Board determines it is, yes, that was the preferred path or potential path that we would suggest for January and February, just to be clear, based on previous winters' deliveries.


MS. GIRVAN:  Do you see potentially a different scenario arising where Enbridge, for instance, would contract for something less than 100,000 gJs a day?  Do you think that would be an acceptable solution?


MR. RAY:  Enbridge contracting for that is a load-balancing cost to be shared across --


MS. GIRVAN:  I think what we've heard is a proposal out there that potentially a solution might be for Enbridge to contract for 200,000 gJs a day of short-term firm transportation over a three-month period next winter.  We talked about that.  And the cost, I think, is on the record as around $21 million.


MR. McINTOSH:  I think that that is a potential solution.  Again, we're still questioning the scope of the problem, and you know, when we start looking at the cost associated with it -- and there are costs with many of these alternatives, and if it is defined as a load-balancing requirement, then it's Direct's view that that should be borne by all system customers, so socialized across all system customers.


MS. GIRVAN:  I guess I'm looking at the proposal of 200,000 a day versus something like 100,000 a day.  Do you think $100,000 a day would be sufficient?


MR. MCINTOSH:  I would take the view Direct is of the position that we're not sure any is required.  I think Enbridge has much higher numbers, as they authored in their proposal.  So I don't know if there's, like, necessarily a middle ground that we're trying to achieve.  


We're just trying to come up with workable solutions for what we think is a -- should be more fully scoped and discussed in the subsequent rate proceeding.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Just a few questions about your $53-million figure that you've referred to on page 7 of your evidence.  I just want some clarification.  


I realize that you said it was, at the time, sort of a rough estimate of what you think the cost of unwinding hedges would be.  And in your evidence, it states the cost to the Ontario marketplace of the over-insurance is approximately $53 million.  I'm just looking for some clarification as to what you think might be the cost to Direct itself versus the Ontario marketplace?


MR. RAY:  I think we would probably state that we would assume that's confidential at this point in time, but I would also say that I'm not sure if we could provide a credible number on that at the moment.


MS. GIRVAN:  Just to clarify, is the $53 million a cost that you've estimated for the entire marketplace in Ontario?


MR. RAY:  Yes, that is an assumption on -- was it the 200,000?


MR. McINTOSH:  Yes, it was an assumption on the 200,000 for a full five-year period, with the market prices at the time that we prepared it.  So the effort was to provide the Board an indication that we think the cost is material, system-wide, if it met all the assumptions in our calculation.


MS. GIRVAN:  I see.  But it is the Ontario marketplace and not Direct alone?


MR. RAY:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. McINTOSH:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  That's the clarification I was looking for.


MR. McINTOSH:  And I would stress that's one of the costs.  As we've touched on with some of the other questioning, there are other costs with regards to the cost versus value of transportation.  This was specific to the cost to unwind the supply of Ontario and moving it back to accommodate the Enbridge request.


MS. GIRVAN:  So assuming that the Board approves the original proposal put forward by EGD for you to put forward long-term firm for 90 percent of your MDV, can you confirm that under the new CIS system, you'll be able to pass those increased costs on to your customers?


MR. KHOJA:  We can confirm that under the new CIS system, that we will control the transportation line item on the customer's bill.


MS. GIRVAN:  So you have the ability under that system to pass those costs on to your customers?


MR. KHOJA:  We will have the ability to control the transportation charge, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Just quickly, we did talk about -- I passed that on, okay.  


Let's assume again that the Board sees system reliability as a problem.  I'm sounding a lot like Mr. Cass.  I would say that some people in this proceeding have said that the 90 percent of requiring you as a company to firm up on 90 percent of your MDV might be unreasonable or unnecessary.  


Is there another scenario that might be acceptable to Direct, for instance, 70 percent, 60 percent, 50 percent?  Anything that might alleviate the Board's concerns along the same lines?


MR. RAY:  Again, I don't want to be repetitive, but, again, I think our position, based on the evidence presented, is we don't believe there is a supply security situation, and therefore, we believe kind of the current status is adequate to meet requirements.


MS. GIRVAN:  I guess I'm looking at an assumption, once again, that there is a problem.  Is there any other level that might be acceptable?


MR. RAY:  Again, if the Board rendered the conclusion that some action had to be taken, we would suggest, again, on a short-term basis, we really feel like the longer-term picture should be addressed in the forthcoming rate case.


But, again, we would be amenable to contracting the January and February volumes, consistent with the prior year, and if Enbridge wanted to contract for additional volumes above and beyond that to meet the 200,000 number, we think that would be a reasonable solution.


MS. GIRVAN:  And this is just a clarification on my part, something I don't understand, not really being in this business.

If you have firm deliveries, not firm transportation, but firm deliveries -- and we have heard a lot about the distinction between the two -- to support gas for your ABC customers lined up, so let's assume you have that for next winter, and if EGD goes out and gets an additional 200,000 gJs per day of short-term firm transportation, doesn't this represent a duplication in the overall transportation arrangements made for those customers?


MR. RAY:  If you come with the assumption that that 200,000 was unnecessary, then yes, it would be a duplication.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Excuse me, I can barely hear you, Mr. Ray.  I don't think your microphone is working particularly well.


MR. RAY:  It actually is on.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Or you're too far from it.


MS. NOWINA:  Part of it is this feedback.  I'm going to turn the mics off for a moment and back on.  It's the way I would do it with my computer if it doesn't work.  All right, let's try again.


MR. RAY:  To reiterate what I was saying, taking the assumption that the 200,000 MBTU is an unnecessary level of contracting additional capacity, then, yes, I would consider it to be duplicative.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, just to go back at that, from a customer perspective, it seems to me, the way I would like at it -- a very naive way of looking at it -- is that my marketer has gone out and made arrangements to bring gas for me for the winter, but then Enbridge is now going out yet again, and contracting for further transportation to meet my demand.


MR. RAY:  That's a correct way of summarizing the situation.  Again, from our perspective, I think Enbridge's view here is that there's a necessity, from a supply security standpoint, because me as your supplier, I'm providing a mean daily volume which I will deliver to the city gate every day.  


The concern here is whether there is an incremental insurance that is required to ensure that on that peak day, all the gas will show up.  Again, it's our contention within the evidence that there has not been -- there's not been a point made clearly that there is a supply security.  


We believe that there is a significant amount of firm transportation available in this marketplace and that it is adequate to meet peak day requirements.


MS. GIRVAN:  So on some level, ABC customers might be paying twice?


MR. RAY:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.

Mr. MacIntosh.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MacINTOSH:


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  


Panel, my name is David MacIntosh, and I'm here on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.  And, for the record, I'm not related to James McIntosh of the Direct Energy panel. 


Panel, it probably comes as no surprise to you that some of my questions have already been covered.  I do, however, have one area that does not appear to have been canvassed.  In respect of the financial interests of Enbridge, and other than providing risk management of financial loss arising from a system failure, are you aware of any financial benefit flowing to Enbridge, should the Board grant the relief sought by Enbridge in Phase 2 of this proceeding?


MR. MCINTOSH:  We're not aware of any potential financial benefits to Enbridge.


MR. MacINTOSH:  That was my only question.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  

Mr. Cass, do you have further questions you wanted to ask?


MR. CASS:  I don't think it's necessary, Madam Chair, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL:

MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  Thank you, panel.  I have a number of areas I want to touch on briefly, primarily just to clean up certain things and just to follow off on the -– on the unwinding of the existing contracts and the hedge positions that had been discussed.  I'm not going to ask you about the number.  

What I would like to know is how long -- you say would it cost $53 million over 5 years.  What I want to know is how long it will take to undo the hedges.  I'm assuming the hedges could be for as little time as three months and for what, as long as five years?


MR. MCINTOSH:  That’s correct.  

MS. CAMPBELL:  So there’s a variation.  Is there any way you can advise us without breaching any commercial proprietary information, the range?  Are most of the them long-term, mid-term or have you got it hedged through the entire continuum?


MR. MCINTOSH:  It would depend on enrolment of customer and the duration of the contract.  So I'm afraid that we can't really get into any more detail.  It would be something less than five years and something more than three months.


MS. CAMPBELL:  What I'm trying to figure out is if the Board decided -- much to your chagrin, I'm sure -- that Enbridge had made a point, and there was some concern and they wanted to put something in place, perhaps not what Enbridge is discussing but another solution of some sort, what is the time period in which you would need to undo the hedges?


MR. MCINTOSH:  I think we could be very reactive to the market and I would say weeks not months.  But I would make the point it really is incumbent upon the decision this Board renders, in that our proposal of short-term firm would require a far different risk management treatment than the multi-year or renewable firm service than has been proposed.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So it's easier for you to react to something like the STFT as opposed to the long-term firm?


MR. MCINTOSH:  Yes, that is correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So again, assuming that the Board does want to put something in place, I'm assuming that you would agree that -- or you would wish to see a grace period put into effect?


MR. RAY:  I think --


MS. CAMPBELL:  For the purposes of undoing the hedges --


MR. RAY:  If the Board were to make that decision, yes, I believe it would be appropriate to have a period of in which to ensure that there is ample time to unwind a hedge -- hedges.


MS. CAMPBELL:  What would you suggest the grace period should be?


MR. RAY:  It really depends on what the outcome is, and I guess that could be various, you know, time period depending on how overarching the decision may be.  So it's difficult to give an exact answer with regard to your question.


MR.  McINTOSH:  I do think that there are some contracting limitations that you can question the TransCanada folks on with regards to when enrolment of short-term firm and firm service have to be done.  Those are important dates for us, as well, as a time period to unwind hedge or hedges that are in place to support the customer base that we serve.


MR. RAY:  I'll speculate.  If we're talking about a short-term firm solution that affects this winter, I would agree that grace period would not necessarily have to be extremely protracted.  And I would agree we're probably talking weeks as opposed to months.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So if that was in fact the solution chosen by this Board, then having that in place for November 1st, which is the date that Enbridge has put forward, would not provide -- would not prove to be difficult for Direct Energy?


MR. McINTOSH:  It would be problematic, but I think we could satisfy that time requirement.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  I would like you to pull up, to assist me in my understanding something, the state of New York case that was filed, HD3.3.


MR. MCINTOSH:  We have it.


MS. CAMPBELL:  This is just to clarify something that I didn't find particularly clear when you were going through it this morning.  This simply is because I don't know what happens in the state of New York, and I'm hoping you can assist us.  

If I go to page 3 -- and that was the page you spent a little bit of time on this morning -- and first of all, there is a discussion of what the policy statement was.  Then we went to the paragraph that starts on March 24, 1999.  Specifically it reads:

"The order provided that mandatory capacity assignment would only be available to those LDCs where specific operational reliability requirement is warranted.  However, we stated that marketers who operate with only secondary delivery point capability may not be able to deliver gas to their customers' city gate on colder days when the gas system may be capacity-constrained.  Therefore in order to assure reliability, we required all marketers serving firm loads to demonstrate they have firm non-recallable primary delivery capacity to city gate but only for the winter season, November through March."

Now, I had understood that actually New York had in place a vertical slice system, so I don't understand why you need firm mandatory, why they said they have to demonstrate they have firm non-recallable primary delivery point capacity, if in fact, the vertical slice method -- or I don't know what you would call it, the vertical slice is in play in New York.

Could you explain this to me?


MR. RAY:  I'll do my best.  The New York utilities basically hold -- at the time that this particular order came in play -- they held literally 98 percent firm primary capacity to their city gates.  So as marketers began to work in those particular jurisdictions, literally, there was a firm cap on being able to find firm transportation on a primary basis to deliver into their utilities.

So the concern, I believe, for the Commission here was to ensure that as the market grew, that firm primary point capacity would be made available to the marketers through an allocation process from the utilities themselves.  

The utilities use a pro-rata mechanism based off of what the marketers peak requirement -- peak day requirements are for their particular customer segment versus the total system, and that determines the allocation that the utilities will make and allocating at primary firm point capacity that they own to marketers.  

I hope I answered your question.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Really, so when they say that we require all marketers serving firm loads to demonstrate they have firm non-recallable primary delivery point capacity, they are talking about ensuring that the marketers get it from the utility?


MR. RAY:  In that particular case, that's the reason they went with the mandatory allocation, because that's where all the primary delivery point capacity is at.  It’s in the hands of the utilities.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  There was a discussion that you had early on and you talked about -- you were discussing -- I think it was Massachusetts and Connecticut.  You were talking about some discussion of constrained markets and you talked about premiums going as high as $3.50 in January and February.  Do you recall that discussion?


MR. RAY:  Yes, ma'am.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Am I correct that in your experience a constrained market is a higher-risk market?


MR. RAY:  Yes, ma'am.  A higher-risk market from the standpoint that there is a -- you know, a difficulty being able to ensure that you can find all the deliverability of whatever is available, which, again, would be very, very limited, being able to match whatever limited capacity is available to the markets that actually need it.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  So the higher the premium, the greater the chance you are dealing with a constrained market?


MR. RAY:  Generally speaking, yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And do constrained markets, in your experience, normally fail?  Is that a sign of a market that will fail, and I mean failure of delivery?


MR. RAY:  I don't believe that that's a sign of a market that will fail.  I think it's a sign of a market where the marketplace understands that there will be significant price pressures with regard to those peak days, because of a very narrow balance between supply and demand.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Would you characterize the Ontario market as a constrained market?


MR. RAY:  Based on my experience with other markets, no, I would not.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Now what I would like to move to is a discussion of Direct Energy's experiences in meeting its obligations at Union South and Union North, and of course Enbridge.  


And one of the things that I believe you said this morning was that Union South was the preferred model; am I correct in that?


MR. RAY:  Yes, ma'am.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So what I want to understand from you, I would like to understand the nature of the obligations at the three different end points, Union South, Union North, Enbridge, the similarities, the dissimilarities, and also why it is that Union South is the preferred model.


So if you could start with Union South, I've got bits and pieces of what goes on at Union South, because you've dropped them as being particularly attractive to Direct.  


So if you could move through, that would be helpful for me.


MR. RAY:  Yes, ma'am.  Fundamentally, let's start with the delivery obligation.  In Union South, there is going to be a weather-adjusted demand that's generated for the direct marketers on a daily basis.  So there will be a requirement to deliver supplies to Union South based on the expectation of what those customers will actually use on that particular day.  


So that's one fundamental difference, whereas in Union North and Enbridge, in essence, the marketers are delivering a flat mean daily volume to the city gate.  And, in essence, what that applies is the utilities will utilize the assets that they hold to manage the differences between the mean daily volume and the actual customer load.  


So, in essence, in the summer months, the utility is generally going to be taking that additional supply that comes into its -- that's going to be being delivered from the marketers and going to be utilizing storage contracts that they have to inject that gas for later supply in the winter months.


And, likewise, in the winter months, what marketers are going to be delivering is generally going to be short of their actual customer supply obligations, and therefore, the utilities are going to be actually utilizing their balancing assets, which could again be storage or it could be a peaking or it could be additional transportation that they have undertaken, to ensure that those additional molecules are actually delivered on that specific day to cover the differential. 


The second fundamental difference in those two market dynamics is that in Union South, there is an actual allocation of transportation assets and of storage assets.  And, obviously, the requirement for that is due to the fact that the marketers have now taken on a balancing role where they are now required to ensure that their actual deliveries match their specific customer requirements on that particular day.


The allocation of those assets provide for the same operational load-balancing flexibility that the utility would otherwise be undertaking in the bundled environment, so in the Enbridge or the Union North environment.  


So the marketers can now take a look at their demand requirement, and they can also manage and optimize these assets to provide the most economical benefit to their customers, as well as ensuring reliability by being able to access multiple locations and multiple supply sources in order to be able to make their deliveries. 


So those are the two key distinctions that I would draw between the three markets.


MR. MCINTOSH:  And if I could add, the cost to Union South customers is somewhat lessened, because the obligation of storage and the carry cost of storage is borne by direct shippers like Direct Energy.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  So what you are saying to me, then, is the customers in Union South benefit from the liquid nature of the Dawn hub and the ability to access both transportation and storage?


MR. MCINTOSH:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And so if we pull back, can we go to the Union North and the Enbridge models?  Those are the two key differences as to why Union South is the preferred model?


MR. RAY:  That is correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  But obviously it might be the preferred model, but there are some operational differences between Union South and Enbridge that take away some of the qualities that attract you to Union South and make it preferable?


MR. McINTOSH:  Clearly, one of the major obstacles is, as Enbridge has stated many times, the lack of storage in their franchise area.  And from a market perspective, it's somewhat frustrated by availability of short-haul capacity between the liquid Dawn hub and the ability to deliver into the CDA, primarily.  


MR. RAY:  I would like to add that with regard to the Connecticut market and the Massachusetts markets that I've discussed that are constrained, I would indicate that in those particular models, there is very limited storage capability in what would be defined as the market area. 


Most of the storage is in production areas that are ultimately transported to those particular venues.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm trying to slide gracefully and I'm not quite doing it.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Campbell.

Ms. Beattie, re-examination?


MS. BEATTIE:  No, we do not, thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Go ahead, Mr. Sommerville.


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Girvan was asking you questions about the 90 percent -- underpinning 90 percent of your delivery obligation with firm transportation, and she said:  Was there another number that you might find to be a reasonable accommodation or middle ground? 


And I understand the assumptions that you have and that you want us to consider, and we will consider them.  But did I understand you correctly, in your responses to Mr. Mondrow, to indicate that you are already underpinning a substantial portion of your delivery obligation with short-term firm transportation?  You are doing that today?


MR. RAY:  Yes, we are underpinning a portion of our requirements for short-term.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I thought the number that was in play in that exchange was about 50 percent?


MR. RAY:  It's less than 50 percent.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. RAY:  You're welcome.


MS. NOWINA:  That completes our examination of this panel.  Thank you very much, panel.  You can step down now.

You can move right into the next panel if they are available.  Is TCPL's panel here?  We'll take a 10-minute break.


--- Recess taken at 2:16 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 2:27 p.m.

MS. NOWINA:  You moved.  Go ahead.  Do you want introduce your panel?

MS. BERGE:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair and Board Members.

Seated before you is the TransCanada witness panel.  Beginning closest to the Board is Ken Schubert, senior business analyst in the system design and commercial operations department.

In the centre is Mr. Steve Pohlod, vice president, commercial east.

And finally seated furthest from the Board is Mr. Tim Stringer, manager, commercial east.

May I ask that the witnesses come forward to be sworn please?

TRANSCANADA PIPELINES LTD. – PANEL 1:

KEN SCHUBERT, SWORN

STEVE POHLOD, SWORN

TIM STRINGER, SWORN

MS. NOWINA:  You can go ahead.


MS. BERGE:  Madam Chair, the witness's CVs were filed on May 6th, and I would not propose to take them through their qualifications further unless the Board wished me to do.


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone have any desire to go through the panel's qualifications?  No, I guess not.


MS. BERGE:  Thank you.  And I don't know if we need to ask for an exhibit number for those CVs.


MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps if you are not going to go through them on the record, we will give an exhibit number to the CVs.


MR. SCHUCH:  Let's assume that HD3.6 is the TransCanada witness CVs.  

EXHIBIT NO. HD 3.6:  CVs OF TRANSCANADA WITNESS PANEL

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MS. BERGE:

MS. BERGE:  Thank you.  Panel, do you have before you your direct evidence, which is Exhibit HD3.6, TransCanada’s written evidence, which is Exhibit L, Tab 21, TransCanada's information request responses, which are Exhibit L, Tabs 14, 15 and 18, and TransCanada's answers to undertakings from the Technical Conference, which are TCU2.10, 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6.

Mr. Stringer?


MR. STRINGER:  Yes.


MS. BERGE:  Mr. Pohlod?


MR. POHLOD:  Yes.


MS. BERGE:  Mr. Schubert?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes.


MS. BERGE:  I understand that this evidence is what you are here to speak to today.  You have a correction, I understand, Mr. Pohlod.


MR. POHLOD:  Yes, I do.


MS. BERGE:  Please go ahead.


MR. POHLOD:  I have one correction to TransCanada's response to interrogatory, DEML, TCPL3A which is Exhibit L, Tab 14.  At the fourth bullet in relation to a RAM or the risk alleviation mechanism, the prefix "un", U-N, should be added to the word "utilized" in the second line.  The revised statement should read: 

"Available to long-haul FT and STS contracts and credits the IT invoice for unutilized demand costs."

That's it.


MS. BERGE:  Thank you.  And with that correction, is this evidence accurate to the best of your knowledge and do you adopt it as your evidence in this proceeding?


MR. POHLOD:  Yes.


MS. BERGE:  Mr. Schubert?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes.


MS. BERGE:  Mr. Stringer?


MR. STRINGER:  Yes.


MS. BERGE:  Thank you.  Before I open the panel to cross-examination, I wanted to advise the Board of one additional matter.  On Tuesday, Mr. Schuch had solicited comments from parties as to whether they would be willing to proceed with questioning of the TransCanada panel through written undertakings, given that there appeared to be limited cross for the panel.

In the course of that day, the extent of the undertakings that would be required in combination with the timing for EGD to file argument lead TransCanada to conclude that a written undertaking process would not be practical, and that it would be preferable to proceed with oral examination of TransCanada today.

As soon as that determination was made, I sent an e-mail to Mr. Schuch's distribution list advising the parties we would not be pursuing the written undertaking route.  However, at about the same time I sent my e-mail, Shell's counsel sent an e-mail to TransCanada with its questions and the two e-mails crossed.

So TransCanada finds itself in the unusual position of knowing Shell's cross-examination questions, at least some of them, in advance.  I spoke to Mr. Vegh on Tuesday and Ms. Annis today, and I understand that due to the nature of the questions that have been asked, they relate largely to data and process-related type questions, that they do not feel there has been material prejudice to their cross-examination.  And in addition TransCanada has used the opportunity to try to prepare responses to the questions, so my hope is that it will assist with the moving efficiently through the Shell cross-examination.

And TransCanada apologizes for any confusion that arose through this series of events.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Annis, any comments?


MS. ANNIS:  I do not.  We're ready to proceed when called upon.


MS. BERGE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That completes my examination-in-chief, and the witnesses are available for questioning.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Ms. Annis, are you prepared to go first?


MS. ANNIS:  I can go first, or I had offered as well for Mr. Cass to go first, so it's really -- we're in the Board’s hands, I think.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, do you want to go first?


MR. CASS:  I'm happy to, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  Panel, I have three or four questions, each of which relates to an answer that Ms. Giridhar gave on behalf of Enbridge that I think that TransCanada can shed light on, then I have a couple of clarification questions after that.

So with respect to the first category, the questions that were put to Ms. Giridhar -- or her answers and where I'm hoping you can shed light, I'm assuming here that you had some familiarity with the record so far, and if so, it will make it go, I hope, somewhat more quickly.

The first area relates to Exhibit HD1.2, which is a document brief that Shell's counsel, Mr. Vegh, brought during the cross-examination of the Enbridge panel.  And in that document, I think it's at page 59, there is some -- I'm sorry -- it's 49, there is some TransCanada material about Keystone pipeline transfer application.  Ms. Giridhar answered questions about this, but I'm thinking that TransCanada, of course, is in is best position to address this.  

So I'm not sure, are you familiar enough with the transcript to have seen the questions and answer that were put to Ms. Giridhar on this document?


MR. POHLOD:  I'm aware of the questions that were put to Ms. Giridhar on the topic but I do not have the transcript in front of me, so if you end up referring to any particular part of it, I may request to see a copy.


MR. CASS:  Well, if you can remember generally the discussion, I just wanted to ask you if you can comment on what implications, if any, this June 2006 document that was included in Exhibit HD 1.2 has in respect of TransCanada's evidence in this procedure.  Can you offer any comments on that?


MR. POHLOD:  The document that was filed was filed in support of an application that TransCanada had in front of the National Energy Board back in 2006 and was I believe based on data and information that was put together in the 2005-2006 time frame.  As such, some of the forecasts, some of the numbers, some of the information definitely has changed.  It's not as relevant today as it was back then.  

I think some of the comments and statements that were made back then probably still apply today, SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1 but one would have to look at it almost in detail and that is not something that I think we're necessarily even in a great position to do.  But certainly if there any specific questions, we would be pleased to try and answer them.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  I don't propose to take you through it in detail.  Just moving on, then, another point that was put to Ms. Giridhar that I think, again, perhaps TransCanada can shed more light on related to reduction in firm contracting on the TransCanada main line and how that ties in with what's said to be declining production in the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin.  


If you wanted a reference, it's Volume 2 of the transcript, pages 65, 66.  But, again, I just wondered if TransCanada can shed any light on this question that was put to Ms. Giridhar as to the extent that this alleged decline in the WCSB has some impact on firm contracts on the main line.


MR. POHLOD:  I believe that TransCanada actually had an information request as part of this proceeding that also dealt with the decline in firm contracting on the TransCanada main line, and I think that in that undertaking -- and if you give me one minute, I'll try and locate it -- there are actually several information requests on the topic.  


I think if I can summarize TransCanada's position on what we have seen in terms of declining contracts on the TransCanada main line, although there has been some decline in throughput out of the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin, we do not believe that it is the decline in throughput that has had any -- that has had the most material impact on the decline in contracting.  


And in fact, I think we stated it in response DEML TCPL 4 when we stated:

"TransCanada believes that the construction of new alternative ex-WCSB pipeline capacity and the construction of new pipelines into the market region have had the greatest impact on TransCanada main line throughput and tolls and contracts."


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Just generally with respect to this proposition that the alleged decline in the WCSB is some sort of factor to be taken into account in this case, what do you say about that?


MR. POHLOD:  I could not say that it is not at all a factor.  However, I honestly believe that it is not a significant factor, or the most significant factor.  


When we look at the production that is still coming out of the WCSB, when we take a look at the fact that -- the market that has traditionally been served by TransCanada, it's still there.  The market in Ontario, the market in Quebec, the market in the US northeast hasn't gone away.  In fact, it's grown over the years.  


The production of the WCSB is still more than adequate to meet the demands of that market.  The reason that the contracts are down and the reason that the throughput is down is that there have been pipelines built out of the WCSB that have effectively bypassed and offloaded the TransCanada system, and new pipelines built into the market that bring, you know, other supplies into the market region.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Then one last area where Ms. Giridhar gave an answer that I'm hoping you might be able to help with, she was asked about quantification of risk by Enbridge, and in her response she indicated that she had difficulty with quantifying it because she can't assess the likelihood of TransCanada cutting discretionary services.


I don't know that you need to turn it up, but that's at Volume 2 of the transcript, pages 36, 37.  


So in light of this issue about quantifying risk, could we start maybe by me asking you whether you could indicate, even on an order-of-magnitude basis, say, over the last 10 years, how reductions in FT service would compare to what sort of reductions you would see in non-firm services, discretionary services?


MR. POHLOD:  I don't have the numbers in front of me, but I would expect, and I believe, that the reduction in our contracted FT levels have been greater than our reductions in throughput.  


We've certainly seen on the TransCanada system more and more gas moving under discretionary services, more and more gas moving under IT, more and more gas moving under STFT; whereas, previously, there was certainly substantially more firm transportation contracts on the system.


MR. CASS:  That's useful.  My question was a very bad one, though, because I was going in another direction.  That answer is useful.  


I'm referring to -- again, the problem is Ms. Giridhar had was assessing the likelihood of discretionary services being cut on TransCanada on a day when gas volumes are needed in the Enbridge franchise area.  


So what I was asking if you could address, even just on an order-of-magnitude basis, is the extent to which you have firm transport obligations and they've ever been cut within 10 years, and the extent to which you have discretionary obligations and they've ever been cut.  


Do you see where I'm going?


MR. POHLOD:  I see where you are going.  You know, in terms of an assessment of risk or in terms of being able to quantify the risk, I'm not sure that's an easy thing even for TransCanada to do, and it's not something that TransCanada actually tries to do or does on a routine basis.


We do design our system to meet our firm transportation requirements, our firm transportation obligations.  We do not design the system to ensure that we can move interruptible volumes.  


So in terms of, you know, the likelihood of transportation services being reliable or not being cut, firm transportation services certainly have the highest likelihood or highest probability of never being cut, and they seldom are.  


I think -- and I don't know within the last 10 years what the situation would have been, but there in all likelihood would have had to have been some sort of substantial problem on the system for us to have ever curtailed firm transportation services.  


We design the system to meet those services, to meet our obligations under those contracts; whereas there are periodic curtailments of interruptible transportation and discretionary services.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  I'll move on.  Those, then, were the areas arising from answers the Enbridge witnesses gave.


I did say I had a couple of other areas of clarification.  One of them is a fairly large question, and I apologize for asking something that is so open-ended, but there has been a lot of discussion in here about the FT alternative opposite the STFT alternative.


And I did think it would be useful if you could perhaps explain how available FT and STFT capacity is determined, and then how it's posted and made available.  


I realize that's a fairly large question, but is that something you could help with?


MR. STRINGER:  So maybe I can talk to the STFT question first.  So, ultimately, any available firm capacity in our system is a function of, obviously, pipeline capacity, but the contracts that are in place, and then any excess capacity resulting from contracts that have been turned back or not renewed over time.  So we are routinely assessing our capacity.  


But in terms of short-term firm, say, for the winter period that we've been talking about here, once we've assessed our available system capacity, we would post that capacity, as per our tariff, in the month of July.  


So in the period of July 1st to 15th, we would post the winter block of capacity for short-term firm, and that information is publicly available on our website.


And then in the latter half of July, the 16th to the 31st, we would post individual monthly blocks for the short-term firm capacity.  


And, obviously, concurrent with that, we also have our firm capacity available.  Again, that available capacity is public on our website.  So it's posted for everyone to see.  And, again, it's routinely updated to reflect any contracts that have been sold.  


FT -- if we sell an FT contract, that capacity is updated.  Likewise, if we sell an STFT contract, that posting is updated.  


So as we get notice of renewal or we sign new contracts, we are continually reassessing our available capacity and updating our posting on capacities.


MR. CASS:  Maybe just a few follow-up questions to be sure that what you've said is understood.  Now, in relation to STFT, you referred to the winter block.  What's the winter block?


MR. STRINGER:  That would be period of time commencing November 1st and ending March 31st.


MR. CASS:  That's what you said would be posted in July?


MR. STRINGER:  Start of July.


MR. CASS:  Then do customers bid on that?  What happens?


MR. STRINGER:  That's right.  It’s a biddable service.  So in that general time frame, we would post that capacity for a period of five business days and then customers would bid on that capacity.  We would assess those bids at the end of that period, and then award the capacity based on the aggregate value to the system.  And again, once a contract is sold or a bid is accepted, then we update the postings to reflect that.


MR. CASS:  Then say you get beyond the start of the winter period, November 1st, is there still posting and availability of STFT?


MR. STRINGER:  Yes.  So as I mentioned, we'll hold that posting for the entire winter block.  Then in the latter half of July, we’ll post individual monthly blocks, and then as we get closer to actual -- let's say, November 1st -- then we'll begin to post for capacity within the month.  And the nature of STFT is that you would contract for a minimum seven days.  

So as we get closer to November or December prior to the start of that month, we'll start to post the weekly blocks of capacity within that month.


MR. CASS:  Then just one last question in this area.  Does TransCanada offer all capacity not-contracted FT as STFT service, or does it retain any long-haul capacity to meet requests for FT?


MR. STRINGER:  No, all that have capacity is offered up to the market.


MR. CASS:  What conditions, if any, would prevent TransCanada from offering STFT as the year goes along?


MR. STRINGER:  I think ultimately what is available for short-term firm transportation will be dependent on what, if any, we sell for long-term firm transportation.  So for example, we've currently got an open season on right now for winter -- for capacity starting November 1st for FT service.  Once that open season has concluded and as we move towards July, obviously then any remaining capacity is going to be offered up for short-term firm again, commencing November 1st.


MR. POHLOD:  Can I maybe add, your question, at least as I understood it, is:  What, if anything, would prevent us from posting STFT capacity?  And I guess the point I wanted to make is nothing prevents us from posting it; in fact, we do post it and we make all our capacity available.  

We have certain timing that we adhere to as to when we make it available, and Mr. Stringer tried to run through that timing.  In other words, it's always available but we made a commitment that we would post the winter block in the first two weeks of July.  So -- and we made that commitment because our shippers wanted to know when they would be able to see the volume of capacity that they could bid on for the winter.

So we have the commitment that we would offer the winter capacity in the first two weeks of July, after -- depending on what was contracted or what was left, would be offered not just as a winter block or a five-month block but would be offered as monthly blocks.  Then as we got right up to that month or into the month, we would offer it or continue to offer it up as short-term blocks within the month.  So they could be terms of as little as seven days. 

I don't know what our practice is in terms of posting the summer STFT, but this is a process that basically runs throughout the year.  So nothing prevents us from posting it.  However, the moment available does vary.  So we may be posting the winter blocks and if by some chance the winter blocks are taken, there may be nothing available for monthly blocks.  I don't expect that to happen, but I also could not predict what is going to happen on the system and the availability of capacity is dependent on many things.  

So what will stop us?  If the capacity is contracted,  if there is FT contracting, if there is STFT contracting, if there is a particular demand in the area, in that particular area that is high or if something happened on the system that might limit the amount of STFT available to a particular delivery area, then those are all the types of things that would cause us not to be posting STFT, but only because it wouldn't be available.  

So what prevents us?  Nothing.  We do post it.  However, it does vary.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And I did have one final area, and I think that's leading right to my final area.  It had to do with what I'll call availability risk around STFT;  in other words, the risk of somebody who's counting on STFT finding that it's not available for the particular time period or when it's wanted.

So I was wondering if you could comment just generally on availability risk, particularly in relation to the winter months.  There's been discussion in this case about potentially STFT for a different time period, December to March, January to March, I've even heard January, February.  

Do you have comments around what availability risk there would be for people counting on getting STFT for time periods like that?


MR. STRINGER:  Well, I think it comes down to what a particular market's requirement is.  For instance, as we've stated, we would post our winter block of capacity first, in the first part of July.  

Now, a party may say:  Well, I'm not particularly interested in the full winter; I just want December, January.  So they may decide to wait until the latter half of July until those monthly blocks are posted.  

Well, there's also a possibility for any particular path there may be sufficient interest for the entire winter that that path could sell out.  So the party that was hoping to get monthly blocks, it would not be available to them.  Likewise, as you get closer to the actual month, if somebody is hoping to get seven days of capacity or two weeks of capacity, I guess there's always the risk that a particular month may have sold out previously.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you Mr. Cass.

Before we go on, I want to make sure I have all the cross-examiners listed.

Ms. Beattie, you don't plan on cross-examining this panel?


MS. BEATTIE:  We don't anticipate anything, but if we could please just wait until the end and touch base at the end, because there may be something that arises between now and the end.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So I have Mr. Mondrow, Ms. Annis.  Anyone else?  Ms. Girvan?  Mr. MacIntosh?  No?  

All right.

Ms. Annis, do you want to go ahead?

MS. ANNIS:  Madam Chair, I just have to hand out some exhibits that I -- the panel has and TCPL has -- were provided with earlier.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm having difficulty hearing you.


MS. ANNIS:  I'm just handing out some exhibits to the intervenors that the panel already has and -- as do the Board members.


MS. NOWINA:  We'll mark those as an exhibit.  We’ll just mark those as an exhibit, Mr. Schuch.


MS. ANNIS:  Sure.


MR. SCHUCH:  There are two exhibits, one of them is entitled Main Line time lines.  Let's assign that HD3.7.  

EXHIBIT NO. HD3.7:  MAIN LINE TIME LINES


MR. SCHUCH:  And the other one is a list of contract demand energy CD report agreement, type STFT, and that will be HD3.8.

EXHIBIT NO. HD3.8: LIST OF CONTRACT DEMAND ENERGY CD REPORT AGREEMENT, TYPE STFT


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  You can go ahead. 


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. ANNIS:


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you.  So I would like to first address the issue of nomination issues with the TCPL panel, and we've already marked the Exhibit HD3.7, which I'll be referring to.  

I first would just like the panel to confirm that is a publicly-available document on the TCPL website that shows cut-off times for nominations and when gas flows.


MR. SCHUBERT:  That is correct.


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you.  And I know we've covered nomination windows briefly in this proceeding, and Enbridge shed some further light on it in their undertakings last night.  However, I would like to go over some points that I think might be useful for the Board and the Members here. 
So you can see from the table that there are four nomination windows for non-storage gas flow.  The first is the timely nomination window which happens at 1:00 p.m. the day before, and gas flows the next day at 10:00 a.m., right?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes, those are eastern times.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And the second is the evening nomination window, and transportation is nominated at 7:00 p.m., and then gas flows the next day at 10:00 a.m.; correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes, eastern time.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Yes, I will just be referring to the eastern times here.  


Then there are two additional inter-day nomination windows.  Gas is basically nominated the same day as it flows.  The first inter-day is at 11:00 a.m., and gas flows at 6:00 p.m.; correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct.


MS. ANNIS:  And the second inter-day is at 6:00 p.m. and gas flows at 10:00 p.m.; correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So I mean it's evident here that there are four nomination windows available to shippers, and I guess I'm looking a bit into the reason for the four nomination windows.


I take it there's more than one nomination window, because the quantity of nominated gas changes throughout the day as shippers adjust the requirements.  Essentially, as the quantity of gas that is nominated becomes clearer, shippers take that into account in subsequent nominations.


So I guess I would refer to it kind of as an iterative process; is that fair to say?


MR. SCHUBERT:  So these four nomination windows represent what the industry standards organization, North America Energy Standards Board, or NAESB, has adopted.  Actually, it predates NAESB into what was GISB, or Gas Industry Standards Board, and it was an attempt to have all the pipelines in North America have their nomination windows aligned, to allow shippers a way to synchronize their gas supply in one base and move it across a number of pipelines to their marketplace.  


So all of the timing starts when all the deadlines are due, the interconnected confirmation process, which is one of the items on here for time lines, and when shippers can expect the gas to flow.  So it followed the standardization of the gas day itself to be 9:00 to 9:00 central clock-time, or 10:00 to 10:00 central clock-time.


So these four nomination windows you are referring to for -- all except for one of the time lines, align exactly with NAESB.


In the case of TransCanada, we give shippers an extra half hour for a timely window.  That's the primary difference.


MS. ANNIS:  So NAESB -- I mean, just to clarify, NAESB, they're responsible for setting the standards now basically to ensure that it's a reliably run system?


MR. SCHUBERT:  This was the time lines that pipelines -- it was a standard for the pipelines for grid-wide synchronization.  And these are just the time lines.  There are a lot of factors that go into getting the gas nominated and the contracts and that, which is not part of this.  But at least when to get the nominations in and when it should flow, that is what this is designed to do, as I understand it.


MS. ANNIS:  And the function of NAESB, in particular, though, they're basically the body that oversees the gas supply system in North America, in terms of setting standards and things like that?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Standards for business practises, electronic communication, that sort of thing, but individual types have their own tariffs and policies set by regulators.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So the fact that a shipper is using these standards -- in fact, a shipper that is using NAESB standards -- and as a transportation provided, your systems are set up basically to comply with these NAESB standards; is that correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  It complies with the time lines of this particular standard.


MS. ANNIS:  Right, okay.  Fair enough, okay.

And so all transportation providers in North America would be complying with this particular standard in terms of the nominations?


MR. SCHUBERT:  I can't speak on behalf of all, but generally this is fairly standard, I would say.

I guess we have one point of clarification.  NAESB is not a -- they are an independent organization.  They are not, I guess, a regulator.  


So the compliance of the standards themselves are voluntary by the transportation service provider, to the extent that the regulator doesn't require compliance of certain standards.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Thank you.

I guess I just would like to go over now the type of information that is available regarding long-haul capacity on the TCPL main line.


So Mr. Cass addressed some of these questions, but I would ask you to turn to TCU2.10, which is where your tariff, the tariff that you referred to earlier, is located.  Again, I will refer to the tariff just to examine the postings that are available for STFT.


And in your answers to Mr. Cass, you covered most of the capacity postings, but I would just like to cover off some of the other postings that I had identified.

So, first of all, I think I'll take you to attachment 1 of that same undertaking, and it's attachment 1-J, and it's the open season posting for the winter 2008-2009 period.  


This is basically just to tie it in with -- just to tie in an example of what Mr. Cass had been talking about earlier.  So if you can just look at -- if you have that page there, the central delivery area, it indicates that for the winter period, TCPL was offering 1.5 million gigaJoules of STFT capacity; is that correct?


MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you.  I would just like to understand the timing of the open season for the STFT, and you can correct me if I'm wrong on this, but my understanding is that one of the reasons that you hold it in July is because the LTFT contracts, a lot of them start as of November 1st, and they have a six-month renewal period. 


So they have to be basically renewed as of May.  So by June or July, TCPL has a pretty good idea as to what the STFT capacity would be; is that fair?


MR. STRINGER:  Yes.  So a lot of the contracts, firm contracts, on our system have an expiry date of -- expire on October 31st or commence on November 1st, so yes, as of April 30th, provide notice to renew or not renew, as per the terms of the tariff.  There is a six-month notification period.


Typically what will happen is after we receive notification of renewal or non-renewal, we will then move to an FT open season, so that's ongoing right now, first, service commencing the winter period. 


Of course, we'll try to sell the one-year FT, and then as we progress through the summer, as of July we will then post any remaining capacity short-term firm.  And as I was indicating to Mr. Cass, we will start posting the winter block, and then we will start to move into monthly blocks the later half of July.


MS. ANNIS:  If we can turn now to the actual tariff itself, section 3.2c, it indicates that if TCPL isn't posting STFT on a daily basis, then STFT is posted on or before the 7th of each month; is that correct?


MR. STRINGER:  That's correct.


MS. ANNIS:  So I guess it's evident -- and it's my understanding, as well, from Mr. Cass's examination -- that you basically post the STFT capacity, as it almost always --- it's basically always -- the capacity is always running?


MR. STRINGER:  Well, typically we'll have capacity available either for FT or STFT generally on an ongoing basis.  So typically what happens is after we hold an open season, whether it be for FT or STFT, we'll move into a daily posting process, as well, so that customers have an opportunity to bid on a daily basis, as well. 


MS. ANNIS:  So the customers basically -- your customers, that is -- have the ability -- or I guess the public, because it's publicly available, but have the ability to look at the STFT capacity that's available on a daily basis, if they so choose?


MR. STRINGER:  Yes, the posting for both FT and STFT will be continually updated, so customers will know what firm capacity is available.


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you.  Just before we put the toll schedule aside, I would like to take a look at section 3.3D.  It's on page 8 of 10.  Do you have it?


MR. STRINGER:  I have that.


MS. ANNIS:  I just would like to understand the logistics of bidding for the STFT.  Section 3.3D states that: 

"TCPL will notify shippers within three banking days at the end of any applicable bid period for STFT whether they have been allocated any of the available capacity.  

So I guess my question is:  Given the three-day notification period, what is the earliest date that a shipper can submit their contract date with their bid?


MR. STRINGER:  So the toll schedule actually states within three banking days, but a customer can get service as early as the next day.


MS. ANNIS:  Would a customer be able to submit a bid with a contract start date for the next day, or is it typically prolonged -- or a date further in advance, sorry?


MR. STRINGER:  Subject to that customer's available credit provisions, a customer can submit a bid today, for example, requesting a start date of tomorrow.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So my previous line of questions focused on the -– obviously, the STFT capacity that was available.

I’m now going to ask some questions regarding the contracted-for STFT.  On that note, Madam Chair, I would like to refer you again to the second exhibit that we tendered.  It's entitled, "The contract demand energy report agreement, type STFT."  I'll simply refer it to as the STFT report, if that's okay with everybody.

So I would like to go over briefly first how this information was obtained.  For the record, the STFT report was downloaded from the NRG Highway -– that's N-R-G Highway -- which is a web portal that is hosted by TCPL, and Shell Energies access the report using their shipper user name and password, which were assigned to it by TCPL.

So as you can see, the report is historical in nature and that it deals with the time period of November 1st, 2008 through to March 31st, 2009, which also corresponds with the winter period for TCPL.  And I guess my question to the panel would just be quickly to confirm that a shipper who contracts with TCPL to transport over TCPL system will automatically be assigned a user name and password.


MR. SCHUBERT:  They would have to sign a customer use agreement for the electronic use of our system, but there is certainly an account available for every shipper.


MS. ANNIS:  Is it fair to assume, just for the purposes of these proceedings, without breaching any confidentiality, that Enbridge as a shipper also has a user name and password and would be able to access the NRG website?


MR. SCHUBERT:  This report is available to all shippers that have a customer use agreement.


MS. ANNIS:  Can they access this type -- this report 

-- did you -- can they access this report at any time?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes, the report -- they can run the report when they want.  I should also clarify, parties don't have to be a shipper.


MR. SCHUBERT:  Okay.


MR. SCHUBERT:  They need to sign a customer use agreement.  So this report is available.  It's an online reporting system.  They would log in, feed in the date parameters, start date, end date that they want, and run the report, and it's available online.


MS. ANNIS:  Now, turning quickly to the details of the report, the columns, we'll just go quickly through what's in it.  The first column is the contract start date.  The second is the contract end date.  The third column is quantity, and it's a little bit moved towards the right.  Then there's the receipt point as well as the delivery point; correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct.


MS. ANNIS:  Can you just confirm for me that the units in the third column for quantity are gigaJoules per day?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SCHUBERT:  And the witness panel can take this subject to check, and I'm going to direct your attention towards the bottom of the first page, but what I would like to do is add up the amount of contracted-for STFT in the month of January.

So it's the first entry or the last entry on the first page and then goes down to about the tenth entry on the second page, 91,000, North Bay Junction.  So by adding these amounts, I come up with an amount of 848,563 gigaJoules per day of STFT contracted for in the month of January that would have a delivery point in the Enbridge CDA.


MR. SCHUBERT:  Subject to check.


MS. ANNIS:  Subject to check.  But the process of getting to that number would be correct in your -- for the month of February, there's only one entry, 158,172 gigaJoules per day, and of course we would probably also take into account the first entry at the top of the second page, which is 25 gigaJoules per day, but which contract date spans the month of January through to the end of March.  Is that process --


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct.


MS. ANNIS:  So we can see that the amount of STFT contracted for with start dates that fall within the winter period.  They shift, I'll venture to say, dramatically, from about 850,000 gigaJoules per day for the month of January where there’s the most peak days, to much smaller numbers in February and March.


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct.


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have a question for clarification.

Is this gigaJoules per day or are these gigaJoules over the course of the month?


MR. SCHUBERT:  These are the contract demand effectively for that contract.  So for example, if it's 25 gigaJoules, that would be the quantity they could nominate every day.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So is it per day.  Thank you.


DR. BASILLIE:  Madam Chair, if I could just look at this a little closer, there are contracts for January throughout this, because you go down through, it’s not only just at the top of the page, where we’ve got 1109, 1109, 1109, 116-09, 1109, et cetera.

Does the 848 take into account all these others?


MS. NOWINA:  I think you are only looking at Enbridge.


MS. ANNIS:  My apologies.  I should have clarified that I'm only look at the Enbridge CDA.


DR. BASILLIE:  It's not the amount that they are shipping?


MS. ANNIS:  Delivery points.


DR. BASILLIE:  Total.  Okay.


MS. ANNIS:  If you could just focus on the report evaluation dates -- and I actually think you have answered this for me, but just to clarify -- there are no restrictions based on the reports' evaluation dates.  In essence, if I am a customer with a user name and password, I can go into the system and say that I want the report dates from December 13th through to January 2nd; is that correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct, and it can even be into the future as well.


MS. ANNIS:  I just would actually appreciate if the panel could help me with a housekeeping matter.

In our evidence, and it was the Shell Energy book of evidence, page 38, and there's the -- in the second column, the last entry says:

"This data is not publicly available to our knowledge."

And I'm just wondering if by looking at the STFT report, given that there are -- given that the report evaluation dates are from November 1st through to March 31st of the 2008 to 2009 period, I'm trying to figure out if -- what the amount of contracted for STFT as at November 1st would be, and if I could look at the entries in this STFT report to get to that amount, or whether I have to include -- or consider a contract that might have a start date prior to November 1st, but extend into the winter period.


MR. SCHUBERT:  My understanding is that this report represents the contracts in effect as of November 1.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.


MR. SCHUBERT:  With the start date, if you chose a start date November 1 to November 31st, it would pick up all contracts in effect for that period, including ones that might have started the day -- in October.


MS. ANNIS:  So then by my calculation, the total STFT contracted for as at November 1st, 2008 into the Enbridge CDA and EDA would be equal to 2,616 gigaJoules per day, which is the --


MR. SCHUBERT:  For the Enbridge CDA?


MR. ANNIS:  Yes, the Enbridge CDA, as well as 745 gigaJoules per day for the Enbridge EDA.


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct, for the date of November 1st.


MS. ANNIS:  All right.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  So, Ms. Annis, just so I understand, does that fill in the box in your exhibit that you had --


MS. ANNIS:  It does, and the amount in that entry would be 3,361 gigaJoules per day, if my math is correct.


MS. NOWINA:  And the witness panel has confirmed that number; is that correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes, those are the two numbers.


MS. ANNIS:  Subject to his math, too, I guess.  


So, basically, the STFT, you indicated that it is prospective and almost basically run on a real-time basis, in the sense that as soon as a contract comes in, it would be noted, or TCPL would input it into their database, and someone would be able to generate an updated report; is that correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct.  The database is updated as soon as an STFT contract is awarded.


MS. ANNIS:  So we know that there's a good deal of information available about STFT contracted for.  Maybe if TCPL could just tell me what other types of information is available to shippers on the website, or publicly, in terms of -- we know that LTFT is available, STFT is available, perhaps -- and I don't want to be leading, but perhaps STFT or -- no, sorry, FTS or -- I'm just trying to get a general picture as to what overall information about the TCPL main line is available.


MR. SCHUBERT:  As you mentioned, we have a contract demand energy report, and that shows the long-term firm contracts.  So FTSTS -- FTSN would be in there.  FTNR, I believe, as well.


So that's publicly available, and it would only show the contracts that are currently in service.  We do also have a future contract demand energy report, so if someone today signed an FT contract starting in November, the existence of that contract would be available, but it's on a future contract demand energy report.  


The identity of that shipper is not known or not revealed until it becomes in service; whereas the contract demand energy report for those long-term firm contracts, it does show the shipper.  


There's also contract renewal reports.  So as you mentioned, November 1st contract renewal date, so the notice for that is six months prior, so there is a bulletin that is posted that shows:  Here is what was eligible for expiry, here was what was renewed and here is what was not renewed.


So that we do those reports for the November 1st, and now for April 1st, so there's two bulletins per year.  Those are the two primary dates.  Those aren't the only dates where contracts can expire, but that's the bulk of them.


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you.


MR. SCHUBERT:  There's also --


MS. ANNIS:  Continue.


MR. SCHUBERT:  So there's also the STFT bulletins that we talked about.  We also have bulletins on Great Lakes capacity releases, and that's our capacity we hold on Great Lakes.


And also there's a volume planner operations report.  That's just the daily status of what's happening on the system, effectively, and it has capacities and you can run it, I believe, for the last several days.  It would show available capacities, and then I guess if there's any bulletins regarding maintenance, or if there is any outages, those are publicly available, as well, in our bulletin section.


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you.  So the evidence thus far in this proceeding is that EGD has requested information from TCPL on contracting supply for the period of 2003 through to 2008 as at November 1st for each year.  


And the panel doesn't have to turn to this evidence, but for the record, the evidence is at EGD -- Shell's Interrogatory No. 5 to EG, and, in particular, I would be referring to an e-mail from Ms. Giridhar to Steve Emond dated February 26, 2008.


So the proceeding has established that EGD has requested information as at November 1st of each year, but I would like to know from the panel whether or not EGD requested TCPL to provide it with information with respect to available capacity and/or the contribution of discretionary services for the remainder of the year, i.e., in months other than November.


MR. POHLOD:  Normally, my answer to that question would have been that we hold the results of any customer -- particular customer communication confidential.  However, having had the benefit of knowing that you were going to ask me this question today, we did ask Enbridge whether it would be all right for us to provide it, and they have no problem and no issue with it. 


So with that having been said, to the best of our knowledge, no, that information was not requested.


MS. ANNIS:  Have they ever asked -- has Enbridge ever asked TCPL to provide it with ongoing current information?


MR. POHLOD:  Again, the same response.  To the best of my knowledge, no.


MS. ANNIS:  If the Board indicated it would be useful for TCPL to provide this type of information to Enbridge or to third parties, would TCPL consider doing so?


MR. POHLOD:  I think before I could really answer that, I would really need to know exactly what the specifics were, in terms of what exact information you believe would be useful to have TransCanada provide.  


And the reason I'm saying that is I think Mr. Schubert just ran through a fairly extensive list of all of the reports and all of the information that we already provided, and I would just want to make sure what you are requesting isn't something that we already provided.


We provide quite an extensive list of information, so we are not really looking and dying to add to that list, if we don't have to.


Before I really could answer that, I would really need to know what specific information you are requesting, and you may not be in a position to tell me that right at this point in time.


If it's something that we already do not have available in some way and through some other forum, we would have to really look at whether or not any information you are asking for is confidential, and then we would probably -- if it wasn't, it's something we could consider providing if the cost and the work to provide it, if it has not already been provided, isn't extensive.


And we would also want to make sure, effectively, that providing that information is something that would be acceptable to all of our shippers.  Effectively, we want to potentially bring it up through our collaborative process and make sure that if we are providing something new that we haven't provided, that the shippers on the TransCanada system are effectively okay with us providing that information, because we realize that at times there are sensitivities and some parties that are contracting our system do not necessarily want a certain type of information provided.

So with all of those caveats, yes, we would consider it, but only with all of those caveats.


MS. ANNIS:  So basically you are saying that as you see it, the system is very transparent and that's where you would --


MR. POHLOD:  I believe it is, but if there is anything in particular that you believe is lacking, please let us know and subject to those caveats, we would entertain it.


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you, Board, those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Annis.  

Mr. Mondrow.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MONDROW:


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good afternoon, panel.  Many of my areas have been canvassed, so I hope to be quite brief.

Let me start off with this area.  I think that the record has generally established that TransCanada has seen a decrease in the long-term firm transportation contracting on its main line in the last few years; would you agree with that proposition?


MR. POHLOD:  Yes, I would.


MR. MONDROW:  Have you seen a concomitant increase in the use of discretionary services on the main line?


MR. POHLOD:  Yes, we have.


MR. MONDROW:  If I look at your evidence, your prefiled evidence, which is -- I don't even have the exhibit number here, I apologize -- I do, it’s Exhibit L, Tab 21.  If I turn to page 16, actually starting at page 15, in section 3, you deal with winter 2008-2009 deliveries to the Enbridge franchise areas.  I don't propose to take you through this in any detail, but the discussion continues and involves graphs and pie charts for a number of pages, I guess, until page -- at least 19, and would you agree that that evidence illustrates that the discretionary services available on the main line were successfully utilized by the market this past winter to deliver all gas required to the Enbridge franchise territory?


MR. SCHUBERT:  I would agree that discretionary services were used throughout this period to meet the market.  Whether this was all requirements of the market, I don't know.  This represents the gas we delivered.


MR. MONDROW:  If you look at page 16 of your evidence, in the months of January and February, I gather that the yellow bars, according to the legend, are the short-term firm transportation, and it seems to me there is a significant amount of STFT in that period that was utilized on the main line.  Is that the proper read of this chart?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Figure 4 on page 16, yes, there is -- in the months of January and later, STFT was used.


MR. MONDROW:  Fairly extensively.


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes, particularly January.


MR. POHLOD:  One thing that the graphs do not necessarily indicate very clearly, if one just looks at the graphs and the information in that section, is that during that period, although discretionary and interruptible services were utilized, there were also days where nominations were curtailed.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Are you aware that during the peak days in question, all gas was delivered to the Enbridge franchise territory?


MR. SCHUBERT:  I don't understand your question.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, you’ve reviewed the record in this proceeding.  The record in this proceeding illustrates, I would suggest, that all gas was in the end delivered on the peak days this past January to Enbridge.


MR. SCHUBERT:  I understand from Enbridge's statements that there was no shortages.


MR. MONDROW:  Much of that delivery, it seems to me, would have been facilitated by your main line through these discretionary services.  Would you agree with that?


MR. POHLOD:  Yes, I would.


MR. MONDROW:  Great.  Thanks.

Turn to page 13 of your evidence, please, and I'm looking at table 4, which at the time of filing is the current, uncontracted long-term firm capacity.  And if I'm understanding this correctly, whatever is not contracted for long-term firm is made available for short-term firm and other forms of discretionary service.  

Mr. Stringer, I think you spoke to that a few minutes ago.


MR. STRINGER:  Yes, that capacity would be available for FT service, short-term firm, or as you suggested, for discretionary service on the day.


MR. MONDROW:  We see over a million and a half gigaJoules to the Enbridge CDA and just under 400,000 gigaJoules to the Enbridge EDA.  Would you have to update those numbers materially between the time of filing and today?  Have they changed significantly?


MR. STRINGER:  Subject to check, I would not expect a huge difference in these numbers.


MR. MONDROW:  Would you expect those numbers to change significantly in respect of contracting for long-term firm capacity between now and next spring?


MR. STRINGER:  I think it would be difficult to speculate as to what a future contract profile is going to look like.


MR. MONDROW:  Has your long-term firm contracting profile increased in respect of the amount of capacity contracted over the last two or three years significantly?


MR. STRINGER:  No, we've seen more -- in terms of long-term contracting, I guess we've seen more increase in short-haul contracting but no substantial -- no increase necessarily in long-haul contracting.


MR. MONDROW:  Do you expect a substantial increase in long-haul contracting on a firm basis between now and next spring?


MR. STRINGER:  Again, I guess if we're talking about FT, I hesitate to provide a guess as to how much we might contract, but as you suggest, it could move as short-term firm or some other type of service.


MR. POHLOD:  I do expect to see a change.  We typically -- most of our contracts expire on November 1st, there's a six-month renewal notice period, some contracts are not renewed.  But then as we go through the next three, four, five, six months, there are some additional FT contracts picked up.  So I do expect a change.  It's hard to say how substantial that change will be or not be.  Would I expect there not to be a substantial or reasonable volume of capacity available as a result of FT contracting?  Then I would tell you no, I would expect even though there may be some FT contracting that may be material enough to change a number here, I still would expect a reasonable level of capacity to be available.


MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate that.  That's very helpful.  You've described the sorts of information already publicly available that will allow the monitoring of that situation over time between now and through the winter.


MR. POHLOD:  Yes, we have.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  One more area I would like to ask you about.  If –-

MR. POHLOD:  Just one point I would like to make is we do put a lot of information out there.  We do have capacity available for contracting, both on an FT basis and STFT basis.  I do expect that we will have it going into this winter.  There are not necessarily any guarantees as to what will be available, because there is a possibility that there could be some events occur that could see contracts in certain areas taken up or not taken up.  Do I really expect the capacity will be fully taken up?  No, I don't, but I also can't predict what might happen.  

We do have years where we have things like hurricanes taking out supply in the Gulf, and all of a sudden you do have a run on capacity.  So you do have events change.  I just wouldn't want people to interpret what we’re saying as there is no chance that capacity will not be available.  There is a chance that it will not be available.


MR. MONDROW:  Could you turn to page 21 of your evidence?  Mr. Cass talked to you a little bit about this a few minutes ago.  In question and answer 23, the evidence addresses risks associated with the use of discretionary services, and I just wanted to understand those a little bit better.  

As I read this paragraph, you identify four risks that might decrease the capacity of discretionary services.  First, you say you don't build facilities for discretionary services.  I think that's been established.  

Then you identify efficiency measures like compressor unit retirements as one event that might decrease the availability of capacity for discretionary services.  When you retire a compressor unit, is there some warning given to market or lead time that information is available that that's going to happen?


MR. SCHUBERT:  In our response to Shell interrogatory 4, there's various regulatory requirements with regard to the removal of the facilities, but also we have a consultative process with our tolls task force, so there would be notification and due process.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

Then another risk you identify is the incremental firm contracts growing -- sorry, serving growing markets, and we've seen already -- and I won't take you through it again -- a bunch of information on the level of contracting on the system and the transparency of that.  


Then you go on to say that maintenance is an initiative that might take some capacity out of service.  Do you do maintenance during peak season, if you can avoid it?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Maintenance can happen year-round.  Many factors are part of that, and, again, this was part of Shell 4, our response to Shell TCPL 4.


Sometimes maintenance does not impact capacity.  It would also depend on the criticality of performing that maintenance.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, and I saw that response, but it seems to me quite odd to think that you would schedule avoidable maintenance during the peak of winter, when your pipeline is under most demand.  That would be kind of odd, wouldn't it, if you could avoid that?


MR. SCHUBERT:  If it could be avoided, but some of the maintenance is time-dependent, and throughput.


MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.

But it's fair to conclude that to the extent you could schedule maintenance outside of the peak winter period, you would do so?


MR. POHLOD:  I think we try not to do maintenance that will affect capacity at a time when we think the capacity is potentially going to be contracted and required.  That only makes sense.  There is some maintenance that does get scheduled throughout the year because of timing requirements.  Sometimes it does have some sort of an impact on capacity, but for the most part, we do not try to do maintenance that will impact the availability of capacity on -- you know, during peak period.


MR. MONDROW:  In fact, you try to do that maintenance off peak period?  Not only do you try not to do it during peak; you try to do it off-peak; right?  Maybe we're saying the same thing.


MR. POHLOD:  I think we are.


MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.

Just to complete this section, the fourth contingency you identify are unplanned system upsets, and I think you've referred to hurricanes, and of course there are various things that could interrupt your system.  


Would you say that your main line is a relatively robust system, that it can withstand extreme weather and generally functions quite well, even during peak season?


MR. POHLOD:  Generally, yes, but there are occasions where weather does have an impact on the availability of capacity.  There are occasions where weather can result in compressor units not starting or problems occurring, so there can be impacts.  But, generally, I would say it's a very robust system.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.

Ms. Beattie, do you have any questions?


MS. BEATTIE:  No, we do not.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms Campbell?  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL:


MS. CAMPBELL:  The first couple of questions that I have are going to require that you have HD3.7 and HD3.8 in front of you.  One is the nomination, the main line time lines for nomination, and the other is the contract demand energy report agreement for STFT. 


My first question is going to relate to the list of STFT.  Now, what this indicates are contracts that are in place that permit people who enter into these contracts to move this amount of gas to that receipt point in that time period; is that correct?


MR. STRINGER:  Maybe to add just a bit of clarification, so in terms of short-term firm service on our system, a customer would execute a master agreement with us, and then would bid under the terms of that agreement, using an Exhibit A.  


And so what you are looking at here is all of the successful bids, the capacity that has been awarded during this time period.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right, but this doesn't mean it was actually shipped, does it?  Don't you have to nominate?  I'm trying to fit the two of these together.  


So what I take this to be is these are the successful bidders for STFT contracts, and each of these lines tell me when the contract starts and stops; and, as a result of this contract, you have the right to move that many gigaJoules every day during that time period to this receipt point.  Am I correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes.  From that receipt point to that delivery point, yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  But in order to do that, am I correct that every day you have to nominate? 


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct.  The nomination is a separate process.  This is just the list of entitlement, I guess.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  So looking at this paper, I don't actually know if --


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell, is your microphone on?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Here I am bellowing away.  Did you catch any of what I've been saying to you?


MR. POHLOD:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  You caught some, so my lungs are still working reasonably well.  


So this doesn't mean that the gas that's on here actually arrived.  It's just this was what was in place, so it could get there?


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  So the 850,000 gigaJoules, that's how much could have been moved in that time period, but this doesn't tell us it was moved; am I correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So even if you have the ability, the right, to move it on TCPL, you still have to nominate when you want it moved; am I correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  So every day, you still have to get on the computer and you still have to do it within the windows of time, the nomination windows, the four NAESB windows, right?


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  And am I correct that it is only the timely nomination window where you are guaranteed that you can exercise your right to get the gas to where you want it to go?  Am I correct?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes.  So for the timely cycle, none of the capacity has been awarded to the -- or none of the capacity nominated by shippers has been allocated at that point.  So all shippers with firm contracts -- and STFT would be included in that -- if they nominate for that capacity, then they would be entitled to that for that nomination window.


If they, for some reason, don't have that nomination scheduled or don't nominate for it, then that capacity is then made available to other services, such as interruptible or diversions.  And those are lower-priority services, but if the firm shipper doesn't nominate -- sorry, they don't nominate, then it's -- that capacity is made available for IT and diversions.  And if those -- if there were nominations for those two services or diversions or IT, then that capacity is then confirmed -- sorry, is not bumpable for the rest of the day, meaning if this firm shipper wants to increase its nomination or renominate later in the day at one of the other nomination windows, evening or intra-day 1, we would not unschedule or bump the IT shipper, for example, to make available for this firm shipper after the timely cycle.  


So it's a long way of saying if a firm shipper wants its capacity to be firm, they need to nominate it on the timely cycle and have it fully authorized and scheduled.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So someone who has an IT service could nominate in the timely window and be guaranteed that they are going to -- that they won't be bumped, they have the right -- because they have nominated during the timely window, they have -- I understood that they were interruptible and so they weren't guaranteed.  


So if you've made the space available for discretionary services, that doesn't change the nature of the service that you have, right?


MR. SCHUBERT:  So the interruptible service is interruptible.  They are not assured of getting anything.  The capacity has to be available, so if the firm shipper does not nominate for that capacity, it is made available for discretionary services, such as interruptible, and if IT is scheduled for the timely cycle, then barring a system upset during the day, they would have the rights to that capacity for the rest of the day.  So IT is interruptible, and there's no assurance that the capacity would be available on any day.  So on the coldest winter day, let's say, when the firm shipper is nominating their full entitlement, that time -- that firm shipper’s capacity, he's using it so it's not made available to any discretionary service.  Have I explained that?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Very clear.  I'm glad you came from Calgary to help me with this.

When I look at the main line time lines, if I could go to that sheet, one of the things that emerged when Enbridge was giving its evidence is Enbridge said they have no way of knowing what services are being used to get the gas to the Enbridge CDA, if they are not firm.  And I would appreciate understanding from you, you indicated lots and lots of information is available and the suggestion seems to be if Enbridge had wanted to find out what was coming their way, they could have accessed it.  

But am I correct -- and my understanding of Enbridge's evidence -- from it, I took that only if you nominate in the timely confirmation window and the service you purchased is firm, is that confirmation something that Enbridge actually gets.


MR. SCHUBERT:  So the confirmation process is between the interconnected operators to confirm the nominations are the requests of its shipper.  So that process on that document, the nomination time lines, there's a nomination deadline, so all the shippers need to get the nominations to us by that time line.  We do all capacity allocation and determine firm nominations first and diversions and interruptible last, and then we would go to the interconnected operators and say:  Here's all of the quantities of gas for certain accounts.

At that point, the confirmation process does not disclose service levels so it is just quantities for particular account identifier or company.  It doesn't say that firm service on our side, a hundred units.  It just says a hundred units for company X. 

MS. CAMPBELL:  I’m sorry, you used the term "interconnected"?


MR. SCHUBERT:  So the interconnected operators.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So is Enbridge an interconnected operator?


MR. SCHUBERT:  That’s correct.  So for the timely cycle -- I’ll use eastern time, 16:30 eastern time -- the confirmation process is to be complete.  So the interconnected operators, TransCanada and Enbridge, at the Enbridge CDA have to agree on the quantities for each of those accounts.  How the service or the quantities got there from our system is not part of that.  So it's just quantities for a customer, and that's it.  And we are confirming that we have that gas for delivery and Enbridge is confirming they would agree to that.  

If we have a number of 100 for this customer and they say:  No, there's only 80, the two parties, in this time, have to try and reach agreement and figure out how to flow the gas.  Absent reaching an agreement, the lesser of those two numbers would flow.  So the service level is not part of that; it's just quantities.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So if I could just take a look at the nomination time lines -- and you don't have to stick with using eastern.  You can use central if you’re more comfortable doing that.  It's bad enough we made you come from Calgary.

What I really want to understand is -- I guess what I'm doing is I'm trying to understand the process that's gone through, because the issue here seems to be that there is uncertainty -- there's not a communication that -- to Enbridge that provides the comfort they need to know that they have the gas they need and that this particularly happened in the middle of January, as we know, this year.  

So what I'm trying to understand is what information TransCanada sends off to Enbridge as an interconnected operator, and how the process starts at your end and how it ends up all of the information gets to Enbridge.  

I appreciate this goes on many times during the day, but if you could walk me through the nomination arriving at TCPL, the information that’s given to you, the information you require, and then the information that is then sent to the interconnected operator.


MR. SCHUBERT:  I'll use the timely cycle as an example.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.


MR. SCHUBERT:  By the nomination deadline, the shipper would have to submit their nomination, which is their request for service under some contract.  Let's say it's FT, I'll say Empress to the Enbridge centre of the delivery area.  So the first process we do is to validate the nomination, that they are -- it's a valid contract and the nomination is within their contract demands, meeting their maximum daily entitlement.  

If the contract is up to 100 units on a day and they try and nominate 200, that wouldn't be allowed.  So it has to be within that, and that includes all diversion nominations, so if the party wanted to divert a piece of that to another location, the sum of all nominations under an FT contract, including the diversions, have to be that hundred or less.  So that's the nomination validation process.  Also to make sure the receipt delivery points are valid -- valid points.

So once we have that -- that happens when they submit their nomination actually, I believe.  Then at the nomination deadline, the new nominations for transportation are cut off.  We go through a capacity allocation process to figure out:  Okay, at this point in time, what is the available capacity on our system?  And compare that with all the nominations on the whole system we get for all paths -- path being the receipt and delivery point -- and then allocate that capacity based on our tariff priority of service.  So firm is first, and then so on down to interruptible.

If there's not enough capacity for all nominations to go through a particular segment on the pipeline or a point, a delivery point, export point, for example, or a segment of pipe being the section of pipe in the Prairies line, for example, then that is considered a bottleneck and then that's how we would allocate capacity through that bottleneck based on priority of service.  

That process takes in the order of half an hour, 40 minutes to do that.  It can be quite involved on some very cold days, as various nominations do get cut.  We don't have room for all services.  Interruptible, at times can be -– there’s no room for that, and if diversions, there’s not enough room for all of those, then it’s prorated based on the nominations.  So there’s the tariff process to do that.  

At this point, we have all the transportation nominations that our system could handle.  Then -- we would then -- depends the actual interconnect location is 

-- which interconnected operator initiates what we’ll call the confirmation process, and I don't recall offhand whether we do or Enbridge does that.  I think we do, but subject to check.

So we would have a list of all the parties that want to deliver gas to the Enbridge CDA at this point, and we would provide that list to Enbridge if we were the party initiating, just an agreement between the two operators, and then the other interconnected operator would have their list, how much they want to receive.  

At this point, that data does not include service class data, it's whether it arrived by a firm, interruptible, or the party just bought the gas at the location and had it transferred to them via transfer title.  

So there's this list, and then the two operators if there is a mismatch, they try and work out:  Okay, is it an error or is there some way to increase that number? 

We don't allow shippers to increase transportation nominations after the nomination deadline, but title transfers they might put in the wrong account identifier on Enbridge.  So this process can take a few hours for the interconnected operator to agree and our transportation is pathed, meaning it has a receipt point and a delivery point, so the shipper also has to make sure the supply side is there.

So just because the transportation is there, we had, let's say, this example, an FT contract for a hundred units a day, and there was no force majeure on the system that day so that hundred should be authorized -- the capacity being allocated, sorry.  But if the market only wants 50, then we can't flow a hundred.  That 50 becomes -– it's always the lesser of the numbers, or if the supply wasn't nominated on the upstream shipper, upstream of us.  So the supply --  the transportation and the market all have to line up at the same number, and that process, this confirmation process, can take a few hours.


But by the confirmation deadline -- and this is the deadline that the North American Energy Standards Board agreed on -- this is when, for grid-wide synchronization, there needs to be standard times to do that; that unless the parties can agree on what the number is, the lesser of each interconnected operator's number would flow.  


So if we requested 100 be confirmed, but the downstream operator says:  No, it's only 90, that's all I can take.  Then 90 becomes the new number, and then the shipper's account would be balanced to make sure that we're flowing 90.  


So a lot of steps have to happen to actually flow the contracted quantity, and then information is fed back to the shipper on what's happening throughout this process.


MR. POHLOD:  Can I try to --


MS. CAMPBELL:  Absolutely.


MR. POHLOD:  Can I try to maybe really simplify this down to a couple of sentences and have Ken correct me if I'm wrong, because I don't deal with this on a daily basis?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Neither do I.


MR. POHLOD:  The information that's available to Enbridge when we go through any particular nomination window, ultimately we get the noms, and they are all of our different contracts.  We work out what we are going to be able to ship, and there's that whole confirmation process and we work it out with Enbridge.  


By the end of that cycle, what Enbridge knows is how much volume and what shipper, and that's the information that they have.  They don't have information as to what service it arrived on, whether it was IT or STFT.  


So we get all the noms at any of our windows.  We work out which get authorized, you know, how they line up, all of that.  At the end of the window, they get what shipper and what volume; is that fair?


MR. SCHUBERT:  It may not be a shipper.  It's an account identifier, but yes.


MR. POHLOD:  So they will get the company or an account and a volume, and that's all they get through the nomination process.  


There's a lot more information that's available through things that are not part of the nomination process or one of the nomination windows.  Like they do have access to what are the FT contracts and who holds them to the Enbridge CDA.


They do have access to the CDE report, which shows how much STFT is contracted to the Enbridge CDA, but they don't know who has contracted it, because we do not provide that information. 


So they know FT, who holds it, STFT, that it's contracted or there, if they look at these reports, but not who holds it, and then, on a daily basis through every nomination cycle, how much gas is arriving in whose account.  Did that help?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I think so.  I was just interested --  I needed to clarify what information Enbridge has, because, as you may know or may not know, Enbridge and -- well, a number of people at Enbridge are having -- were having sleepless nights in January, and that's one of the reasons that they feel the system reliability is an issue.  And that's why we're here today.


And I was trying to understand what information it was that you provided to Enbridge that can provide them with a degree of comfort that the gas they need is going to arrive when they need it, which is what everybody who has a pipeline and customers want to do, right?


So I'm trying to decide -- trying to understand -- I don't make any decisions.  I'm trying to understand the process and what information is given and what information is lacking.  


And Enbridge believed that information is lacking, and so I'm trying to understand what information they get and what they don't get, and I think I understand what they get.  So thank you very much for that.  That was helpful. 


I'm going to ask you just a couple of questions concerning something that Mr. Cass already asked you to turn up, and that's the TCPL study.  And the only reason I'm asking the question is because when I was reviewing the transcript, Ms. Giridhar basically said you should ask TCPL, and since you are here and you came so far to see us, I thought I would ask you.  


First of all, if everybody could pull up HD1.2, and that's the Shell cross-examination brief?  Page 49 is the TCPL study, and, for the record, that occupies pages 49 to 72.


And we've already had to confirm that, in fact, this is a document that was filed by TransCanada and was filed in a proceeding in front of the National Energy Board in June 2006.  


One of the things that you indicated when you took the stand was that this is a three-year old report, so some of the things that are in it have changed significantly.  And if I could ask you, do you have a copy of the transcript, sir?  This would be May 7th, Volume 1, page 127, the portion of the TransCanada report that was read out by Mr. Vegh when he was doing this starts at page 69.  It's capacity into the central Canadian market.  


And what Mr. Vegh did was he read two paragraphs that are on page 70, and the two paragraphs -- I'm sorry, not two paragraphs, two sentences.  


And on page 70, lines 6 to 12 -- and this is in June 2006, and it says:

"Strong demand growth is projected for the central Canadian market driven by Ontario's plan to replace some coal-fired generation in the province with natural gas by 2009."  


This was the point that Mr. Vegh said: "best laid plans."


So carrying on:

"Natural gas demand in Ontario is expected to grow --"


And then the numbers are given:

"-- with demand in Quebec expected to grow.  Despite the strong demand growth, the central Canadian market is expected to enjoy a strong surplus of available pipeline capacity for the foreseeable future."  


Mr. Vegh asked of Ms. Giridhar:

"Do you have any reason to disagree with that conclusion?"


And Ms. Giridhar said:

"Certainly this is TransCanada's evidence and they'd be better prepared to speak to its contents than I would."


So, first of all, keeping in mind what you said, that this is a three-year-old report, what's the status of that comment now?  Is that still accurate or has it changed?


MR. POHLOD:  I think in the context that that statement was made, it is still accurate, or at least parts of it.  Certainly we are not seeing the replacement of coal-fired generation by 2009.  


But if you take a look at the information that we provided in terms of how much capacity is available on the TransCanada system, I think that it would be fair to say that there is a significant volume of available pipeline capacity.  So I do not believe that that has fundamentally changed.


I think what needs to be clarified, perhaps, is that what's important isn't whether or not, in an overall sense, there is sufficient available pipeline capacity.  When we look at a peak day on the system, the real question is:  Can deliveries to any particular area on an absolute peak day be absolutely assured?  


I think the important point is that if one is relying on interruptible or discretionary transportation services, there is a greater likelihood that the supply may not show up on a real peak day.  Does it happen often?  No.  Can it happen?  Yes.


The statements that were made in that report were not trying to focus on a peak day.  They were trying to look at the system overall, and on an overall basis, the conclusions at that time I believe still hold true.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Does TCPL have any plans to build any short haul?


MR. POHLOD:  Currently, TCPL has had a request for new or incremental short-haul capacity as a result of an open season that was held last year.  I'm not sure I know the number precisely, but it's probably in the range of 110,000 gigaJoules a day -- or about 110,000,000 a day.


MR. STRINGER:  Closer to about 100,000, I would suggest.


MR. POHLOD:   About 100,000 gigaJoules a day came to us in requests for incremental short-haul capacity.  That would commence in, I believe, November 2010.  That date has subsequently been changed to November 2011.  So we are currently looking at providing incremental short-haul capacity for approximately a hundred million a day to specific customers that have contracted for it in a new capacity open season that we held last year for November 2011.  And we are looking at how to best provide that capacity, what we have to do, but we will be providing that capacity.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Schuch just pointed out I didn't ask you where the capacity was being built.  Where is the short haul being built?


MR. POHLOD:  I wanted to confer because I just want to be certain as to what information we do not make public or when we make it public.  In terms of new capacity that is being put in place, we do not make public who it is being put in place for until the contracts take effect.  These will be FT contracts.  We are looking at contracts that will take effect in November 2011, and I cannot make public who they will be for.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So we all have to wait to find out.  Well, we did ask where, but if you tell us who, will we know where?  You are shaking your head.  All right.

MR. POHLOD:  Probably.

MS. CAMPBELL:  I have one other question that arises out of the question Mr. Vegh asked of Ms. Giridhar.  This is on page 133 of the transcript.  Mr. Vegh said:  

"Have you done any analysis of the availability of capacity to provide discretionary services to Ontario at times of peak?"

And the response was: 

"Enbridge is not privy to TransCanada's operating data."

Are you able to give us any information of -- any information concerning the availability of capacity to provide discretionary services to Ontario at times of peak?


MR. POHLOD:  I don't believe we've done any specific studies to look at that.  However, for the most part we believe there is adequate capacity for most days and most peak days, but the problem with the issue is that on a given peak day, there are no guarantees.  We don't know where else that capacity will be required.  We don't know who will bid and take STFT.  We don't know whether or not we may have some equipment problems like we experienced last January, and as such, it's that discretionary capacity that is the first capacity to be cut.

So have we done any studies?  No.  Generally is there capacity?  Yes.  On a real peak day, especially if there are any issues, will everybody get all of their allocation and all of their capacity for discretionary services?  Probably not.

January of this year, we did.  There were discretionary services that were curtailed.  There was even, I believe, one local distribution company not only that was curtailed -- and they were moving gas on interruptible service.  We cannot guarantee and we cannot assure everyone that relying on discretionary or interruptible services will not result in days where capacity is not curtailed.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I take it from that that TCPL will make its best efforts to deliver a hundred percent of what it can when it can?


MR. POHLOD:  That is correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  In other words, put another way, TCPL will fulfil its obligation to deliver, subject to the constraints of the pipeline?


MR. POHLOD:  That is correct, and firm transportation services have priority.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Of course.  Thank you.

Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

Ms. Berge, any redirect?


RE-EXAMINATION BY MS. BERGE:

MS. BERGE:  Just two matters, Madam Chair.

Panel, if you can turn up the Exhibit HD3.8, can you advise whether there are any corrections to this exhibit?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes, I understand the reporting process had -- there's an error in it.  There is one duplicate record.  It's on the second page.  It's at Kirkwall to Niagara Falls.


MS. BERGE:  Could you provide the date for that?


MR. SCHUBERT:  January 1 to February 28.  There's a duplicate record there, 52,753 -- 52,753.  There's two records identical.  So we will correct that.


MS. BERGE:  By that, do you mean we'll file an updated report that does not contain the duplicate?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Yes.


MS. BERGE:  Thank you.  

And secondly, can you tell me what, if any, options a shipper has -- an STFT shipper has to nominate as an alternative for nominating every day?


MR. SCHUBERT:  Can you repeat the question?


MS. BERGE:  Does an STFT shipper have any other alternatives to having to file nominations every day for its volumes?


MR. SCHUBERT:  They need to nominate every day.  With STFT, they don't have diversion rights, there's no alternate receipt points, and it's not assignable.  So when they bid for it, they paid for the block that they have bid for.  I guess just because the contract has been awarded, that's not the nomination.  It has to be nominated and scheduled as part of any nomination.


MS. BERGE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Dr. Balsillie has a question.


DR. BALSILLIE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

The Board is being asked to do a risk assessment on whether gas will be available or not.  And there's been a lot of discussion about on peak days, as you would have it, that equipment failures occur and it seems as though they are destined to occur always on the worst days.  

I'm wondering if TCPL has any data which indicates what is the risk of failure?  You know, over the past five years, when the temperature goes to this, what is the risk of a compressor not starting, what is the risk of a valve freeze-off?  Do you have that type data?


MR. POHLOD:  I'm not sure I know whether -- I don't know whether we have it, but I could check to see whether we have that type of data.


DR. BALSILLIE:  Let me just ask another couple of questions, and then maybe we could have an undertaking, if possible.  It's late.  All right.  


You don't think you have the data.  All right, the other related question that I have is -- I have two more.  One is:  Do you know whether there's work under way to make them -- to make the equipment more amenable to working on these cold days? 


And my final question is that the peak day in Ontario, southern Ontario especially, may not be the same as the peak day in Manitoba, Saskatchewan, or somewhere upstream, so what happens when something goes wrong in Manitoba to Enbridge in southern Ontario?  


So those two questions.  


MR. POHLOD:  I think we always have work underway to ensure that we have the most reliable system possible.  We are always looking at trying to make sure our equipment will run all the time.  


It's like anything.  You know, when it's minus 30 degrees, that's when someone's car doesn't start, no matter how much one tries to take care of it.


So there is a constant effort underway to ensure that we have as much reliability as possible. 


Having said that, I think I forgot the second question.


DR. BALSILLIE:  The second question is:  What happens in southern Ontario when you have these very cold days?  I have a son that lives in Manitoba, and you know, we feel sorry for him.


MR. POHLOD:  As you should.


MS. NOWINA:  Spoken like someone from Alberta.  


MR. POHLOD:  The TransCanada system is an integrated system.  What happens is, you know, one part of the line or any part of the line definitely can have an impact on other parts of the line, especially things that happen upstream.  So if something did happen or we did have some sort of constraints, bottlenecks or equipment failures upstream of Ontario, it definitely can affect the availability of discretionary services in Ontario.  


If something happens on the system downstream of Ontario, in Quebec, it obviously wouldn't, but it is an integrated system and there could be an impact in Ontario if something happened in Manitoba.


DR. BASILLIE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Just a moment.


[Board Panel confers.] 


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville has a question.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very briefly, yes.  Do shippers who hold rights to ship firm -- are they obliged to move their volumes that way?


MR. POHLOD:  No, they are not obliged to move volumes at all, or they can --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that when the timely nomination period -- the communication is sent to the operators and there's a communication of a quantity of gas that is moving, and the shipper that is moving pursuant to that nomination -- Enbridge, for example -- would not have any idea whether that's moving under a firm contract, under discretionary service or in any other fashion.  It could be interruptible service, for that matter.  Is that right?


MR. SCHUBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In fact, if some firm contracts did not nominate in a timely window, in fact interruptible service or any other discretionary service would have priority over a firm transportation nomination made later in the day?


MR. POHLOD:  Once it has been scheduled -- once it has been authorized, confirmed and scheduled, it would have priority.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. SCHUBERT:  I would add that a subsequent nomination window, that we still go through the priority of service, so that firm shipper, when he decides to nominate at, say, the evening cycle and there are other nominations there, including diversions and interruptible, that firm shipper to his primary path would have higher priority for the available -- the capacity available at that nomination window.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But that wouldn't include his original capacity through the timely nomination, which could have already been reallocated to a discretionary -- 


MR. SCHUBERT:  Right.  The increased nomination from that FT shipper at a subsequent window won't unschedule or bump the previously scheduled gas.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, panel, very much.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Madam Chair, do we want to deal with the issue of the scheduling of days?


MS. NOWINA:  I was just going to, Ms. Campbell.  I'm beginning to go feel a little senile, because Mr. Sommerville reminded me, and now you've reminded me, and I was waiting for Mr. Cass to remind me.  


Mr. Cass, did you want to discuss argument?


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. CASS:  Perhaps I should, Madam Chair.  I introduced the subject of the argument schedule at the beginning of the hearing, with the thought that there was a concern about it, and I probably should not have done that.


Enbridge does have the concern I describe, which is that it also has an argument schedule this month to meet in respect of the generic QRAM proceeding.  However, as this proceeding has unfolded, Enbridge has also realized that meeting the proposed argument schedule in this case could potentially be important, just from a timing point of view, to give the Board the earliest possible opportunity to start on its decision.


So balancing those two things, I think that Enbridge is quite prepared to do what it needs to do to live with the proposed argument schedule in this case, and I shouldn't have raised any doubt about that at the outset of the hearing.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Cass.  We'll leave it as proposed.

Ms. Berge, you had a point?


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I did want to make some -- 


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, Ms. Berge -- 


MR. MONDROW:  I understand she pointed to me, but I'm happy to defer.  We have discussed it and I did want to make some comments about the argument schedule before you kind of cement it, but I'm happy to defer to Ms. Berge.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, it was Ms. Berge who -- 


MR. MONDROW:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I apologize.


MS. BERGE:  And my comments actually don't relate to argument.  They just relate to a housekeeping matter, so perhaps we could conclude the discussion about the argument.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, let's do that.  Back to you, Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  I apologize.  I thought you were referring to Ms. Girvan.  Sorry about that.


Some of the intervenors, I gather, do have a concern about the argument schedule.  I've spoken with a couple of them.  This schedule, as I recall Mr. Cass's comments at the start of the proceeding, was that the argument in-chief would be due next Thursday, which is May 21st.  The intervenor argument would be May 26th.  


I note that that gives two full days between Enbridge's argument in-chief and the intervenor response.  Of course, people don't wait, necessarily, to start work on it, but these are very important issues, and the characterization of the issues and the discussions of the issues will be, in my view -- and I think that view is commonly shared -- quite important and quite detailed.  


Also, that May 26 date is only six kind of full days from now, and then the reply would be May 29th, according to Mr. Cass's schedule.  


The problem with the full days, however, is, as the Board is probably even more acutely aware than the intervenors, there is a lot going on in the next two weeks. To list just a few, the commodity pricing argument from intervenors is due tomorrow.  The Union earning sharing mechanism Technical Conference and Settlement Conference both occur during the week of the 25th, on the 25th and 27th and 28th.  


I understand there is a consultation which involves some Hydro One issues on the 26th.  There is a PowerStream hearing next, which IGUA is not involved in, but some of my colleagues are, I believe, and then submissions on both STAR and IFRS are also due on the 25th.  


So all that is mentioned, Madam Chair, to note, again, as the Board is well aware, it's been a very hectic regulatory schedule for the last several weeks, and the next two weeks are particularly acute in that respect.  


These are important issues, and certainly from IGUA's perspective, we would ask the Panel to consider a delay from Mr. Cass's original proposal in the order of a week to a week and a half, and really, according to the Board's regulatory calendar, the first availability to do kind of consecutive days' work on this matter would be the first week in June.  


So, on behalf of IGUA, I would request the Panel to consider intervenor argument being submitted towards the end of that first week in June, to give us at least a few unscheduled days to finish off argument, get instructions and finalize our submissions.  


I wouldn't purport to comment on argument in-chief, but if that entails a shifting to a bit of a later date for argument in-chief, Mr. Cass can address.  


So I realize it's a little extra time at the front end.  I realize the Board needs to make a timely decision, but we're really talking about a week and a half to give intervenors some space to properly digest and present their positions.


MS. NOWINA:  Just to be clear, Mr. Mondrow, the proposed schedule you are talking about was not Mr. Cass's schedule.  It was Board Staff's schedule that he referred to, and then said he was still fine with.  


MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  Then Board Staff didn't consult with, certainly, me.  Perhaps they did with others, but I apologize.


MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else have a comment on that schedule?  


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, I just reiterate what Mr. Mondrow said.  It's a tight time for all of us.  I think these are important matters, and we want to make sure we give due time to consider the issues. 


MR. MacINTOSH:  Madam Chair, I support Mr. Mondrow's submission.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Beattie?


MS. BEATTIE:  Direct Energy also supports Mr. Mondrow's suggested time, and the necessary extension for Enbridge on the other side, as well.


MR. EXALL:  And, Madam Chair, BP takes no position -- takes no issue with the proposed schedule.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.

Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  I just wanted to comment, Madam Chair, that I don't think that Enbridge would be looking for what others have referred to as a related extension to the request that's been made.  I think Enbridge's interest is just making sure that the Board gets the case completed in a fashion that allows the Board to get started on the decision as quickly as possible.  


So I don't think that Enbridge is looking for any adjustments to accommodate the company.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm not going to take a position on the scheduling, but I do note that this has been a very -- this time period, for some reason, has been particularly heavy from a regulatory point of view.  There's been a lot scheduled, and the time lines are one after the other.  


And certainly if the intervenors are of the view that, given the amount of work on their plate, they do need additional time, it certainly -- there certainly -- it appears to be good reason to afford it to them.  


The question is:  How much time, and whether it should be -- Mr. Mondrow referenced the first week of June.  He asked for the end of June, and I think keeping in mind that Enbridge -- 


MS. NOWINA:  The end of the first week, I took his point to be, not the end of June.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize.  The end of the first week in June, I believe, is what you said.  Keeping in mind that Enbridge has requested that their proposal, should it be granted, be in place by November 1st, and working from that should assist the Board in assessing when they want their decision to be out, so can it be implemented in a timely fashion so everyone can order their houses appropriately.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Mondrow, we'll take it under consideration.  I don't want to do it here.  I want to sit down with a calendar and consider it.


As you can appreciate, we recognize there's a heavy regulatory schedule.  We notice that in the office, and so we also have a heavy schedule and there is a time constraint to this decision.  So we have to take all of that into consideration. 


We'll look at it.  Probably Board Staff can let you know tomorrow what the schedule will be by e-mail, something to that effect.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  We appreciate that.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Berge?


MS. BERGE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

It was simply in relation to the revised HD3.8.  I wondered if you would like us to do that as a formal undertaking, to have a placeholder for it when it is filed, or how you would like us to handle that.


MS. NOWINA:  HD3.8 was the one that had the unfortunate duplicate of an entry?


MS. BERGE:  That's right.


MS. NOWINA:  Which is irrelevant to this proceeding; is that true?  It's the Niagara Falls -- 


MS. BERGE:  It's true, it does go to, I guess, the accuracy of the totals, and to the extent that anyone wanted to use this document for -- as indicative of STFT contracts.  So if the Board doesn't feel that it needs an updated version, we're content to leave it as it is. 


I just didn't want there to be an inaccurate document on the record.


MS. NOWINA:  I think you've said on the record -- you've created the error on the record.  I don't think you need to file another document.


It's not something we need for people to make their submissions on, Ms. Berge.


MS. BERGE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much.

Panel, have a safe trip home, and everyone have a good long weekend.  We are now adjourned.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:33 p.m.
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